

### Insect–flower interactions, ecosystem functions, and restoration ecology in the northern Sahel: current knowledge and perspectives

Natalia Medina-Serrano, Martine Hossaert-Mckey, Aly Diallo, Doyle McKey

### ▶ To cite this version:

Natalia Medina-Serrano, Martine Hossa<br/>ert-Mckey, Aly Diallo, Doyle McKey. Insect–flower interactions, ecosystem functions, and restoration ecology in the northern Sahel: current knowledge and perspectives. Biological Reviews, In press,  $10.1111/{\rm brv}.13170$ . hal-04872062

### HAL Id: hal-04872062 https://hal.science/hal-04872062v1

Submitted on 7 Jan 2025

**HAL** is a multi-disciplinary open access archive for the deposit and dissemination of scientific research documents, whether they are published or not. The documents may come from teaching and research institutions in France or abroad, or from public or private research centers. L'archive ouverte pluridisciplinaire **HAL**, est destinée au dépôt et à la diffusion de documents scientifiques de niveau recherche, publiés ou non, émanant des établissements d'enseignement et de recherche français ou étrangers, des laboratoires publics ou privés.



Distributed under a Creative Commons Attribution - NonCommercial 4.0 International License



Cambridge Check for updates Philosophical Society

1

# Insect–flower interactions, ecosystem functions, and restoration ecology in the northern Sahel: current knowledge and perspectives

Natalia Medina-Serrano<sup>1,\*</sup>, Martine Hossaert-McKey<sup>1</sup>, Aly Diallo<sup>2</sup> and Doyle McKey<sup>1</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Centre d'Ecologie Fonctionnelle et Evolutive, Univ Montpellier, CNRS EPHE, IRD, 1919 route de Mende, Montpellier 34293, France <sup>2</sup>Laboratoire d'Agroforesterie et d'Ecologie (LAFE), Université Assane Seck de Ziguinchor (UASZ), Ziguinchor BP 523, Senegal

#### ABSTRACT

Actions for ecological restoration under the Great Green Wall (GGW) initiative in the northern Sahel have been plant focused, paying scant attention to plant-animal interactions that are essential to ecosystem functioning. Calls to accelerate implementation of the GGW make it timely to develop a more solid conceptual foundation for restoration actions. As a step towards this goal, we review what is known in this region about an important class of plant-animal interactions, those between plants and flower-visiting insects. Essential for pollination, floral resources also support insects that play important roles in many other ecosystem processes. Extensive pastoralism is the principal subsistence mode in the region, and while recent analyses downplay the impact of livestock on vegetation dynamics compared to climatic factors, they focus primarily on rangeland productivity, neglecting biodiversity, which is critical for long-term sustainability. We summarise current knowledge on insect-flower interactions, identify information gaps, and suggest research priorities. Most insect-pollinated plants in the region have open-access flowers exploitable by diverse insects, an advantageous strategy in environments with low productivity and seasonal and highly variable rainfall. Other plant species have diverse traits that constrain the range of visitors, and several distinct flower types are represented, some of which have been postulated to match classical "pollination syndromes". As in most ecosystems, bees are among the most important pollinators. The bee fauna is dominated by groundnesting solitary bees, almost all of which are polylectic. Many non-bee flower visitors also perform various ecosystem services such as decomposition and pest control. Many floral visitors occupy high trophic levels, and are indicators of continued functioning of the food webs on which they depend. The resilience of insect-flower networks in this region largely depends on trees, which flower year-round and are less affected by drought than forbs. However, the limited number of abundant tree species presents a potential fragility. Flowering failure of a crucial "hub" species during exceptionally dry years could jeopardise populations of some flower-visiting insects. Furthermore, across Sahelian drylands, browsers are increasingly predominant over grazers. Although better suited to changing climates, browsers exert more pressure on trees, potentially weakening insect-flower interaction networks. Understanding the separate and combined effects of climate change and land-use change on biotic interactions will be key to building a solid foundation to facilitate effective restoration of Sahelian ecosystems.

Key words: biotic interactions, drylands, Ferlo region, flower-visiting insects, plant-animal interactions, restoration, Sahelian ecosystems, semi-arid savannas.

#### CONTENTS

I.	Introduction	. 2
	(1) Objectives of this review	3
	(2) Methods	3

\* Author for correspondence (Tel.: +33 (0)7 82 58 76 30; E-mail: nataliamedinaserrano@gmail.com)

*Biological Reviews* (2024) 000–000 © 2024 The Author(s). *Biological Reviews* published by John Wiley & Sons Ltd on behalf of Cambridge Philosophical Society. This is an open access article under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial License, which permits use, distribution and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited and is not used for commercial purposes.

II.	State of knowledge about floral resources and their phenology in the northern sahel	4
	(1) Floristic composition in the northern Sahel and characterisation of floral resources	. 4
	(2) Flower types represented in plants of Sahelian savannas	. 6
	(3) Plant phenology	. 7
III.	State of knowledge about the fauna of flower-visiting and pollinating insects in sahelian savannas	. 10
	(1) Hymenoptera	10
	(2) Diptera	11
	(3) Lepidoptera	11
	(4) Coleoptera	11
	(5) Insect phenology in the harsh, variable, and highly seasonal climates of the Sahel	12
IV.	Network structure and function	.14
V.	Open questions and research priorities	. 16
	(1) Structure and functioning of insect-flower networks and the impact of climate fluctuation and climat	e
	change	16
	(2) Do livestock impact insect–flower interactions in the northern Sahel?	16
	(a) How do livestock-induced changes in vegetation affect the abundance, diversity, and composition	n of
	flower-visiting insects?	17
	(b) What are the impacts on insect-flower interactions of changes in the functional composition of	
	livestock assemblages?	17
	(c) How can the timing of grazing be managed to minimise impacts on plant sexual reproduction and	lon
	animals dependent on flowers and seeds?	17
	(d) How can prosphere effects be managed?	18
	(3) Pollinators for crop plants?	18
	(4) What are the goals of conservation actions?	19
	(a) What is the baseline?	19
	(b) Choice of indicator taxa: new strategies for monitoring insect-flower interactions?	19
<b>х</b> / т	(c) Promoting diverse communities and genetically diverse populations	19
		. 20
	Acknowledgements	. 20
VIII. IV	Kelerences	.20
1A.	Supporting mormation	.27

#### I. INTRODUCTION

2

The Sahel is among the world's most environmentally degraded regions and is highly vulnerable to climate change. Faced with the prospect of accelerated degradation by climate change, demographic growth, and land-use change, initiatives have been launched with the objective of restoring the region's ecosystems and the services they provide to people. Under the auspices of the United Nations Convention to Combat Desertification (UNCDD) (since 1996) and the pan-African initiative the Great Green Wall (GGW) (since 2007), numerous projects have attempted to contribute to this objective. Too often, however, actions have been grounded in sectoral approaches: water, vegetation, and livestock are treated as separate problems and managed by different agencies. There is a need for integrative approaches that link all components of ecosystem functioning.

Among the components that have been neglected are plant-animal interactions. Although crucial to ecosystem functioning, these interactions have only recently begun to receive attention in efforts to restore degraded ecosystems. As Genes & Dirzo (2022) concluded, approaches to restoration have typically been centred either on plants or on animals, with little consideration of their interactions. In the Sahel, efforts to restore ecosystems have been strongly plant centred, particularly on trees, with little attention given to grasses and forbs. Furthermore, these efforts have concentrated on actions such as the planting of massive numbers of tree seedlings (mostly of local species that provide products useful to humans), with less attention given to natural regeneration and to the interactions on which it depends.

Many plant-animal interactions are affected by the changes in climate and in land use that drive ecosystem degradation in the Sahel. Responses of plants to mammalian herbivores affect vegetation dynamics. Interactions between plants, mammalian herbivores, and coprophagous insects drive decomposition and nutrient cycling; all these interactions change when livestock replace native herbivores, as they have in the Sahel today (Hempson, Archibald & Bond, 2017), and when livestock are treated with parasiticides that persist in their excrement (Ambrožová et al., 2021). Both wild and domestic vertebrates disperse seeds, sometimes contributing to natural regeneration but often favouring the spread of invasive plants (Kebede & Coppock, 2015). The diverse fauna of grounddwelling granivorous birds and rodents in the Sahel depends on the soil seed bank, which can be depleted by grazing pressure that is too intensive or that occurs at the wrong time (Zwarts, Bijlsma & van der Kamp, 2023b).

We focus here on interactions between flowers and flowervisiting insects. Several considerations justify this choice. First, flower-visiting insects are a strategic point of entry for studying insect biodiversity as a whole. Insect-flower interactions involve and affect a broad swath of the taxonomic and functional biodiversity of insects, the most diverse group of terrestrial organisms. As flower-visiting insects are involved in many other biotic interactions (Vizentin-Bugoni et al., 2018), the status of their communities can serve as an indicator of ecosystem health (Kevan, 1999). Flower-visiting insects provide not only the pollination services on which many plants depend; they also contribute to many other ecosystem functions. Floral nectar provides fuel for insects that are parasitoids and predators of other arthropods, regulating their populations. Because they occupy high trophic levels, parasitoids and predators should be particularly good indicators of ecosystem health, as they provide evidence for the continued presence of the community of arthropods on which they depend (Brock, Cini & Sumner, 2021). Secondly, in addition to their diverse roles in ecosystem functioning, flower-visiting insects contribute directly to human livelihoods, pollinating fruit trees and crop plants (Bergeret & Ribot, 1990). Third, there are huge gaps in our knowledge of plant-pollinator interactions throughout Africa (Rodger, Balkwill & Gemmill, 2004; Archer et al., 2014). Studies of pollination networks in the tropics are strongly biased with respect to region (most studies are in the Neotropics) and habitat (most studies are in forest) (Vizentin-Bugoni et al., 2018). Fourth, although arthropods comprise over 90% of terrestrial species (Briggs, 2016), insects and other arthropods are often overlooked in biodiversity studies. For example, a review of animal biodiversity in the Sahara-Sahel and threats to its conservation (Brito et al., 2016) includes a brief mention of only one insect group, dragonflies. We found a synthesis of adaptations and biodiversity patterns in the Sahel of one economically and ecologically important group, dung beetles (Coleoptera: Scarabaeidae). Sahelian dung beetles have evolved short life cycles and flexible nesting behaviour, advantageous in these extreme environments (Rougon & Rougon, 1991). If similar information exists for other insect groups in the Sahel, it has not yet been synthesised. Finally, the two main drivers of degradation in the Sahel, climate change and land-use change, are known to affect insect-flower interactions elsewhere (Filazzola et al., 2020; Bascompte & Scheffer, 2023).

Within the Sahel, there is a strong north-south gradient in annual rainfall, ranging from about 100–200 mm in the north, where the Sahel gives way to desert, to about 500–600 mm at its southern limit, where it grades into Sudanian savannas. We focus herein on the northern Sahel. We use this term to refer to the part of the region where annual precipitation is too low (< about 350 mm) and unreliable to permit crop agriculture, so silvopastoral subsistence systems, dominated by extensive pastoralism, replace the agrosilvopastoral subsistence systems that characterise the more humid southern Sahel. For rainfall isohyets and climate zones for West Africa, see Maps 3 and 4 in OSS (2019). The northern Sahel also corresponds to the zone initially targeted by the GGW initiative, the framework for many ecological restoration efforts in the region. We focus particularly on literature for the Ferlo region of northern Senegal, which has been the subject of more research and more restoration initiatives than other parts of the northern Sahel, and where our own fieldwork was conducted.

#### (1) Objectives of this review

We aim to summarise what is known about insect-flower interactions in the northern Sahel and how they may be impacted by changes in climate and land use. We first outline the composition and diversity of the plants that provide resources for flower-visiting insects, describe the nature of these resources (nectar, pollen, oil) and give information on floral traits that either limit the range of insects with access to floral resources of different plants, owing to morphological (or other) mismatches, or that allow access to a wide range of visitors. We also describe flowering phenology, which in many species is shaped by the harsh abiotic conditions of these environments. In parallel, we outline the community composition and diversity of the insects that visit flowers in these ecosystems, and describe the traits that enable some insects to exploit concealed (or otherwise limited-access) floral resources and restrict others to exploiting exposed resources. We assess the roles of different insect groups in pollination and other ecosystem services, and describe what is known about the phenology of flower-visiting insects.

In this study, we offer tentative generalisations about the structure and functioning of insect–flower networks in arid and semi-arid northern Sahelian savannas, identifying sources of resilience and of vulnerability to threats posed by human land use and by climate change. Our main goal is to identify gaps in our knowledge of insect–flower interactions in the region and outline research priorities. We hope to lay the groundwork for studies that identify and monitor indicators of the status of insect–flower interactions in the northern Sahel. Knowing how these indicators respond to changes in climate and in land use will be essential for designing actions to conserve, and if necessary, restore, the integrity of these interactions and the ecosystem functions and services they provide.

#### (2) Methods

We conducted a scoping review, a method appropriate to the scattered and fragmentary nature of the literature on this topic and to our goal of identifying knowledge gaps (Munn *et al.*, 2018). The taxonomic and thematic scope of our review was very broad, covering diverse plant and insect groups, and facets of their interactions ranging from resources and phenology to their interconnections with other interactions in ecosystems. Criteria for inclusion of literature were thus too expansive for an exhaustive systematic review to be feasible. Furthermore, a narrowly focused systematic review was inappropriate, given the paucity of studies that centre on

insect–flower interactions in the region. Scoping reviews are useful for examining emerging evidence, for identifying and analysing gaps in the knowledge base (Munn *et al.*, 2018), and for generating hypotheses (Tricco *et al.*, 2016).

Many plant species of the northern Sahel are wideranging, and we included studies of their interactions with flower-visiting insects elsewhere in their geographic range when these were available. We also drew on emerging results of our own studies.

In our literature search, conducted using Google Scholar, we first established a list of common herbaceous and woody plant species in the northern Sahel. These lists were compiled from Guissé et al. (2023) and Miehe et al. (2010) for the flora of the Ferlo of northern Senegal. Composition of vegetation in this region is similar to that of other sites in the northern Sahel (e.g. Bille & Poupon, 1972; Breman & de Ridder, 1991). We extracted information on the geographic distribution of each species from Plants of the World Online (POWO, 2024). We consulted Borokini et al. (2023) to establish whether each species is native to, naturalised, or invasive in the Sahel. We then identified authoritative recent reviews on the floral biology of the families represented and on the biology of flower-visiting insect orders and families found in the region, including their life cycles and the resources they depend on in addition to flowers. We also identified authoritative cross-taxon comparative reviews of specific topics in floral biology [e.g. ambophily (Abrahamczyk, Struck & Weigend, 2023), presence/absence of floral nectaries (Bernardello, 2007), occurrence of monoecy and dioecy (Renner, 2014), and floral symmetry (Reyes, Sauquet & Nadot, 2016)], and consulted recent reviews of pollination syndromes and pollinator networks (Ollerton et al., 2009, 2015; Rosas-Guerrero et al., 2014; Aguilar et al., 2015). We then surveved these reviews for references to species occurring in the Sahel or close relatives of these species. We also conducted separate searches for each plant species, using terms such as "pollination", "flower", and "floral biology". We summarise the principal results of our research in the main text, tables, and figures. Details for particular plant species are presented as online Supporting Information in Tables S1 and S2. Although we do not claim that this information exhaustively covers the literature, it is evident that there are many gaps in knowledge. Knowledge gaps are even greater for insects, with almost no information available at the species level, that is the level that is pertinent for analysis of biotic interactions.

Insects are not the sole pollinating animals in the region; a few vertebrate species may be important pollinators of some plants. Diop, Diop & Ndiaye (2024) recorded one species of sunbird (Nectariniidae) in the Ferlo, the pygmy sunbird (*Hedydipna platura*), as well as single species of each of two families (Coliidae, Pycnonotidae) that occasionally feed on nectar but are primarily frugivorous (Symes & Downs, 2001). Like insects, vertebrate flower visitors are vulnerable to climate change and land-use change in the Sahel. Cresswell *et al.* (2007) found *H. platura* to be among the many bird species whose populations dramatically declined over an eight-year period in a rapidly degrading Sahelian woodland in northern

Nigeria. Fruit bats (Pteropodidae) may also be pollinators in the region. One tree common in the Ferlo, the baobab (Adansonia digitata, Malvaceae), is known to be pollinated by fruit bats elsewhere in its range (Djossa et al., 2015). However, fruit bats decrease in diversity and abundance with increasing aridity from Sudanian to Sahelian savannas (Lassen et al., 2017) and are very rare in the northern Sahel (Cosson, Tranier & Colas, 1996). As in the driest parts of its range in southern Africa (Taylor et al., 2020; Karimi et al., 2022), baobab in the northern Sahel may be pollinated not by bats but by hawkmoths. The status of fruit bats in the northern Sahel and their role in the pollination of baobab are questions deserving investigation. Another "bat-pollinated" tree, Parkia biglobosa (Fabaceae: Mimosoideae) - found in the more humid Sudanian and Guinean savannas south of the Sahel – is pollinated primarily by honeybees in the drier parts of its range in Burkina Faso (Lassen et al., 2017). Increased drought with climate change is likely to lead to southward shifts in the range both of trees such as P. biglobosa and A. digitata that fruit bats depend on (Maranz, 2009; Lassen et al., 2017) and of the bats themselves. In view of the limited importance of birds and bats as pollinators in the northern Sahel, we treat only insect flower visitors in this review.

#### II. STATE OF KNOWLEDGE ABOUT FLORAL RESOURCES AND THEIR PHENOLOGY IN THE NORTHERN SAHEL

### (1) Floristic composition in the northern Sahel and characterisation of floral resources

The flora of the Sahel is rather poor, with approximately 1500 species of flowering plants in an area of 3 million km<sup>2</sup>. The region is transitional between the Sahara and the wetter Sudanian savannas further south, and only a few species (about 40) are endemic to the Sahel. Drier sites within the region are occupied by Saharan elements of the flora, while species with Sudanian affinities are restricted to wetter sites (Le Houérou, 1989). Most species are wide-ranging, and some are pantropical. A substantial proportion of the common forbs were introduced into Africa from the Neotropical and Indomalayan regions, often in the pre-colonial and colonial periods (Borokini *et al.*, 2023). Many of these are naturalised, and some are invasive.

Table 1 describes the floral traits that affect the insect visitors capable of accessing these resources, and includes observations of visitors when these are available. References supporting statements about particular plant taxa are provided in Tables S1 and S2.

Grasses, the predominant herbaceous plants in the region, and sedges are not included in this study. They are anemophilous, that is adapted for wind-pollination. However, although (almost all) grasses do not produce nectar (Bernardello, 2007), their pollen is exploited by some insects, among them important pollinators including honeybees, halictid bees, and

1 able 1. Flower types r	epresented in the Sahel.			
Flower types	Examples in Sahel	Characteristics	Pollinators (observed or suspected)	References
Nectarless, buzz- pollinated	Commelina (Commelinaceae), <i>Heterathera</i> (Pontederiscaee), Senna, Chamacerista	Usually offer pollen only (some also offer nectar), poricidal anthers	Potentially half of all bee species (but not honeybees), ranging from carpenter bees to some Halictidae	Vallejo-Marin <i>et al.</i> (2010); De Luca & Vallejo-Marin (2013); Pritchard & Vallejo- Marín (2020)
Oil flowers	Momordica spp. (Cucurbitaceae)	Oil, nectar, pollen	<i>Ctenoplectra</i> bees (Apidae)	Eardley $\alpha$ al. (2009); Renner & Schaefer (2010); but see Oronje $\alpha$ al. (2012a)
Carinate flowers	Fabaccae (Faboideae), Polygalaccae	Keel flowers, many with tripping mechanisms, explosive pollen release	Diverse bee species, varying in size, strength, and behavioural traits (e.g. large flowers of <i>Crotalaria retusa</i> are pollinated by relatively large carpenter bees; $Alysicarpus$ and $Indigofen$ are pollinated by diverse smaller bees $(Apis,$ social and semi-social Halictidae)	Aygören Uluer <i>et al.</i> (2022)
Flowers with tubular corollas	Pedaliaceae, Rubiaceae, <i>Ipomoea</i> spp. (Convolvulaceae), others	Corolla tubes varying in length, restricting access (e.g. to long-tongued visitors) to varying degrees. Adaptation to diverse pollinators among species of <i>Ipomoa</i> , and also of <i>Kohuutia</i> (Rubiaceae) to butterflies (red flowers of <i>K.</i> <i>songalensis</i> ) or settling moths (white flowers of <i>K. tenuis</i> )	Hymenoptera, Diptera, Lepidoptera, depending on flower characteristics	Hassa et al. (2023)
Hawkmoth flowers	Some Ipomoea spp. (Convolvulaceae), Datura (Solanaceae), Pancratium (Amarvilitdaceae)	Large white flowers with trumpet-like tubular corollas, opening at night	Hawkmoths	Grant & Grant (1983); Willmott & Burquez (1996)
Settling moth flowers	Kohautia tenuis (Rubiaceae), Dipodi viride, Drimia indica (both Asparagaceae)	Small, often pale-coloured inconspicuous flowers (usually white or green), strong nocturnal scents, and short nectar spurs, abundant nectar and sturdy structures to support the moths as they settle to feed	Settling moths (e.g. Geometridae, Noctuidae)	Groeninekx <i>et al.</i> (2010); Van Zandt <i>et al.</i> (2020)
Asclepiadoideae: morphologically specialised flowers, but great variation in pollination systems	Leptadenia spp., Pergularia daenia, Calotropis procera	Pollination requires detachment, transport and deposition of pollinia. Most species offer nectar as a reward, never pollen, occasionally nectarless.	Diverse pollinators (e.g. small Diptera, bees, wasps, depending on the species)	Ollerton <i>et al.</i> (2003, 2017, 2019)
Brood-site weevil pollination	Annona senegalensis (Annonaccae), Piliostigma, Vachellia (both Fabaccae)	No unique morphological syndrome, widely divergent floral phenotypes	Curculionoidea (Coleoptera)	Dao <i>et al.</i> (2023); Haran <i>et al.</i> (2023)
				(Continues on next page)

5

Biological Reviews (2024) 000–000 © 2024 The Author(s). Biological Reviews published by John Wiley & Sons Ltd on behalf of Cambridge Philosophical Society.

Flower types	Examples in Sahel	Characteristics	Pollinators (observed or suspected)	References
Ant pollination	Euphorbia (Euphorbiaceae), Phyllanthaceae) (Phyllanthaceae)	Prostrate habit, frequent ant visits; small inconspicuous flowers, inflorescence- associated tiny nectaries	Ants	Sharma <i>et al.</i> (2009); Samuel & Rastogi (2022)
Deceit pollination	Stylochaton hypogaeus (Araccae), Cleome monophylla (Cleomaccae)	Deceptive floral structures, mimicry, kettle-trap inflorescences, often conspicuous (when mimicry is visual)	Beetles attracted to rewardless kettle-trap inflorescences ( <i>Stylochaeton</i> ); fake nectaries reported for <i>Cleome monophylla</i> (requires confirmation)	Renner (2006); Lunau et al. (2017)

hoverflies (Bogdan, 1962; Immelman & Eardley, 2000), and Saunders (2018) speculates that many grasses may be pollinated by both wind and insects. Whether flower-visiting insects in arid savannas of the northern Sahel exploit grass pollen, and whether they are important in grass pollination, are questions that have not been explored.

Almost all of the Sahelian forbs listed possess flowers adapted for insect pollination (see Table S1). Exceptions are *Acalypha* spp. (Euphorbiaceae) and Amaranthaceae such as *Amaranthus* spp. and *Pandiaka angustifolia*. Windpollination is common in the latter family. As in grasses, pollen of wind-pollinated Amaranthaceae is collected by some bees. Such species may be ambophilous, that is pollinated both by insects and by wind (Abrahamczyk *et al.*, 2023). Finally, one species of Amaranthaceae in the region, *Aerva javanica*, is apomictic and pollination is not required for its reproduction.

Few studies of the floral biology of forbs have been conducted in the northern Sahel. Most have hermaphrodite flowers and many appear to be self-compatible (Table S1). Most trees, by contrast, are (largely) self-incompatible (Table S2). This reflects a general difference between these two growth forms, and is one of many that make seed production by trees more highly dependent on pollinators than is the case for herbs (Rodger *et al.*, 2021).

There are scattered observations of insect visitors of several widespread species from elsewhere in their range, but for most species we only have information on floral traits that affect their likely spectrum of visitors. Among animalpollinated plants, there exists a continuum between extreme generalism (plants pollinated by up to hundreds of pollinator species) and extreme specialism (plants pollinated by a single pollinator species) (Johnson & Steiner, 2000). Descriptions of specialised floral traits have tended to associate frequent combinations of these traits with described pollination syndromes. However, there is much debate about the extent to which floral traits of plant species fall into discrete clusters in multivariate phenotype space that identify convergent syndromes, and about whether the most common or most effective pollinators of a plant can be predicted from the syndrome to which the plant is thought to belong (Ollerton et al., 2009, 2015; Rosas-Guerrero et al., 2014; Aguilar et al., 2015; Amorim et al., 2022). Pollination syndromes have been postulated for several plants included in this study, and we report this information where it has been given. However, we focus on flower types, rather than syndromes, to characterise the diversity of floral traits that restrict access to each plant's reproductive organs, floral rewards, or both, to visitors with appropriate morphology and behaviour (Table 1).

### (2) Flower types represented in plants of Sahelian savannas

Many plants of Sahelian savannas have open, polypetalous, actinomorphic flowers, usually hermaphrodite, in which rewards (pollen, nectar, or both) and sexual organs are freely exposed to diverse insect visitors. Such flowers are expected

to be visited, and perhaps pollinated, by a broad spectrum of insects. Among forbs, examples of such open-access flowers in the northern Sahel include members of the families Aizoaceae, Asteraceae (compact inflorescences analogous to open-access flowers), Caryophyllaceae, Capparaceae, Geraniaceae, Malvaceae, Molluginaceae, Portulacaceae, Zygophyllaceae, and others. Most tree species in the northern Sahel also possess such flowers. Examples include Combretaceae, Fabaceae subfamily Mimosoideae (compact inflorescences analogous to open-access flowers), Rhamnaceae, and Zygophyllaceae. In all these families of forbs and trees, most species are known to possess floral nectaries (Bernardello, 2007). All appear to fit the notion of the "small diverse insects" (SDI) pollination system, recently reviewed by Moreira & Freitas (2020). The extreme generalism of their flowers, offering access to a broad range of visitors, may offer great advantages in these extreme environments, because "good years" for some insects may be "bad years" for others (Powell et al., 2024). The flexibility of the SDI system is analogous to that provided by ambophily, and some SDI flowers may also be ambophilous. Many ambophilous species arose from SDI ancestors (Abrahamczyk et al., 2023).

However, even among plants with generalist flowers, there is considerable variation in some floral traits and corresponding variation in their assemblages of insect visitors. Mimosoid legumes, which dominate the tree flora of the northern Sahel, provide such examples. The dense, many-flowered inflorescences of Vachellia nilotica and V. tortilis are visited by larger bees which avoid related mimosoid species with loose, fewflowered inflorescences. Also, some mimosoids offer only pollen as a reward (e.g. V. nilotica), while others, in addition to pollen, offer large (Senegalia senegal and Faidherbia albida) or small (V. tortilis) amounts of nectar (Tybirk, 1993; Stone et al., 2003). These and other differences lead to different, but overlapping, assemblages of insects that visit cooccurring and co-flowering species (Stone, Willmer & Rowe, 1998). Species that offer both pollen and nectar tend to be visited by a greater diversity of insects (Stone et al., 2003). Further study of the floral ecology of Sahelian plants with open-access, generalised flowers may reveal other examples of trait differences that lead each species to attract diverse, but only partially overlapping, sets of floral visitors.

In contrast to open-access flowers, those of other species have traits that restrict the range of flower visitors able to access rewards and reproductive organs. For species occurring in the Sahel, the information we have concerns almost exclusively morphological and phenological (e.g. day- or night-blooming) traits. Little information exists for other traits. For example, we are aware of no studies of floral odours in the region. The available information allows the categorisation of several flower types (Table 1). Across all species, pollen and nectar are the principal rewards offered to visitors. Oil flowers include only one genus [two species of *Momordica* (Cucurbitaceae)]. *Momordica* is also the only genus in the region reported to be associated with an insect strictly dependent on its flowers [*Ctenoplectra* (Apidae) bees]. A few species (in three families) offer only pollen as a reward, and depend on buzz-pollinating bees. Brood sites are provided as an attractant for a few weevil-pollinated tree species. Deceptive rewardless flowers are known for two species in the region. Among the species whose flowers have morphological structures that restrict access, the most important are the Faboideae, all of which have carinate (keel) flowers, pollinated by insects (usually bees) capable of releasing anthers [by tripping or other mechanisms (see Table S1)] from beneath the keel. Flowers with tubular corollas that restrict access are also frequent, and probably represent diverse pollination systems, including adaptations for pollination by Lepidoptera such as hawkmoths (both long- and short-tongued; Johnson et al., 2017), settling moths, and butterflies (Table 1). Variation in floral traits among congeneric species of Ipomoea (Convolvulaceae) and Kohautia (Rubiaceae) suggests adaptation to different pollinators. An example of how little is known about pollination in this diverse group with tubular corollas is offered by Adenium obesum (Apocynaceae), the only succulent shrub common in the northern Sahel with long tubular corollas. Astonishingly, although the morphological adaptations of this common and widespread species for pollination by long-tongued insects were described in detail over 40 years ago (Rowley, 1980), we could find no published observations of its flower visitors from anywhere in Africa. Information is also lacking for the Sahel on pollination of Asclepiadoideae, whose morphologically specialised flowers represent a great diversity of pollination systems, from highly specialised to generalised. Among the most specialised systems are found in Ceropegia. Flowers of the around 180 species of this genus temporarily trap pollinators, usually small Diptera from one or more of 11 families. Many Ceropegia spp. are visited and pollinated by flies of only a single genus (Ollerton et al., 2017). Judging from georeferenced observations in the Global Biodiversity Information Facility (GBIF), few species have been recorded in the northern Sahel (GBIF taxon ID: 7150518). Of the 17 West African species listed by Hutchinson et al. (2014), only one Ceropegia sp. (C. aristolochioides) appears to have been recorded from the northern Sahel, where it is rare (Meve et al., 2001). Interestingly, this species, which we have not encountered in our fieldwork, interacts with and is pollinated by a larger range of flies than most Ceropegia: six families for the nominal subspecies in East Africa, at least 15 families for another subspecies in Arabia (Ollerton et al., 2017). Finally, the suspected occurrence of ant pollination in two genera of prostrate herbs in the Sahel needs to be confirmed.

#### (3) Plant phenology

Species can only interact if their traits enable them to. In Section II.2 we considered the matching of morphological and behavioural traits between flowers and the insects that visit them. Phenological traits of plants and insects must also match. A match, or mismatch, between when flowers are available and when flower-visiting insects are active is essential in determining what interactions between flowering

7

plants and insects will occur. Phenology thus strongly affects the involvement of a plant species in insect–flower networks (Guzman, Chamberlain & Elle, 2021). In highly seasonal environments such as the northern Sahel, niche-based processes related to phenology can play major roles in shaping interaction networks (Vizentin-Bugoni *et al.*, 2018).

How does the availability of floral resources vary across seasons and between years? Sahelian ecosystems face strong abiotic constraints that shape the phenology of plant communities. In the Ferlo region of northern Senegal, rainfall is not only scarce, varying from 50 to 300 mm per year at a single site (Cissé et al., 2016), but is also highly seasonal. Nongraminoid herbaceous annuals of the region, most of which are insect-pollinated, are thus limited to short vegetative and flowering seasons. Flowering seasons of perennial forbs [e.g. geophytes such as Pancratium (Amaryllidaceae), Corallocarpus epigaeus (Cucurbitaceae), Dipcadi viride and Drimia indica (both Asparagaceae)] may be somewhat less constrained, owing to their underground storage organs. In extreme northwestern Senegal, the bulb-bearing geophyte Pancratium sp. flowered much earlier than the other herbaceous plants, all of which were annuals and hemicryptophytes (Bille & Poupon, 1972). Flowering periods of other geophytes have not been described. In contrast to herbaceous plants, the perennial root systems of woody plants (shrubs, woody vines, but especially trees) should afford year-round access to groundwater, freeing their phenology from dependence on current rainfall. Woody plants thus have longer vegetative seasons and can flower during the dry season, potentially providing resources to floral visitors throughout the year. For the same reason, floral resources of woody plants are also likely to be less strongly affected by interannual variation in precipitation than those of forbs.

Two-thirds or more of the herbaceous species of the northern Sahelian savannas are annuals (Bille & Poupon, 1972; Breman & de Ridder, 1991). Studies of their phenology have concentrated on vegetative traits important to their role as forage resources, such as time of germination and phenology of growth. Little information is available about their reproductive phenology. All herbaceous plants in these savannas have short flowering periods restricted to the rainy season. Flowering begins in the early rainy season (July in the Ferlo of northern Senegal), but peaks near the end of the rains (October) (Bille & Poupon, 1972; Diatta *et al.*, 2023).

Trees of arid savannas have among the deepest roots known in any environment (Schenk & Jackson, 2005). For example, Do *et al.* (2008) found living roots of *Acacia* (now *Vachellia*) *nilotica* at 25 m depth. Rooting depth is a key trait shaping many aspects of the ecology of savanna trees (Zhou *et al.*, 2020), including their flowering phenology. Trees of arid environments also have greater capacity for water storage in stems, and trees such as baobab may use stemstored water for flowering when soil water availability is low (Venter & Witkowski, 2019). Such traits explain how, in savannas that are among the driest in the world (Do *et al.*, 2008), "Whatever the month of the year, there are always [tree] species in bloom" (Poupon & Bille, 1974, p. 61; our translation). Resources for flower-visiting insects provided by trees are thus available throughout the year (Table 2).

For the same reason, floral resources of woody plants are also less likely than those of forbs to be affected by the strong interannual variation in precipitation that characterises the northern Sahel (Do *et al.*, 2008). Shrubs, which are smaller than trees, also have significantly shallower maximum root depths than trees in similar environments (Schenk & Jackson, 2002). Shrubs that continue vegetative activity, reproductive activity, or both, during the dry season may thus be restricted to topographic depressions where the water table is relatively shallow. These low-lying sites are of crucial importance in conserving plant diversity in the northern Sahel (Dendoncker & Vincke, 2020; Dendoncker *et al.*, 2023).

As elsewhere in African savannas (e.g. Ryan *et al.*, 2017), tree species of the northern Sahel exhibit diverse flowering phenologies. Leafing and flowering are not independent events, but are linked developmentally and physiologically (van Schaik, Terborgh & Wright, 1993). For example, leaf shedding can trigger flowering as a result of stem rehydration (Singh & Kushwaha, 2006). Leafing phenology is clearly of adaptive significance in Sahelian savannas. To understand the extent to which the floral phenology of Sahelian trees is driven by selection on leafing phenology, it is important first to understand the proximate mechanisms determining leafing phenology in Sahelian trees, and the selective pressures driving it.

Phenological data for the dry tropics are sparse, and the processes controlling leaf emergence are not well understood (Richardson *et al.*, 2013). Leafing phenology is related to climate patterns in the Sahel, but the relationship is not simple. Hiernaux *et al.* (1994) identified five phenological types among Sahelian trees (Table 3). In all of these, flowering precedes or coincides with leafing out. In trees with variable leafing phenology, flowering phenology is just as variable. In some evergreen species, however (e.g. *Combretun glutinosum*), there is no obvious relationship between leafing and flowering (Seghieri *et al.*, 2012a). According to Coulibaly *et al.* (2020), *Combretun glutinosum* and other Combretaceae of the region are characterised by longer flowering seasons than most other trees in West African savannas.

Trees in type 4 (Table 3) leaf out and flower well before the rains. Such "pre-rain green-up", permitted by the deep roots of savanna trees and by their capacity to use stored reserves, is widespread in African savannas, where many trees leaf out and flower often several weeks before the onset of rains (Ryan *et al.*, 2017). A consequence is that flowers of such trees offer energy and water (and pollen for some visitors) near the end of the dry season, a period when these resources might otherwise be scarce. The costs and benefits of pre-rain green-up as a vegetative strategy are discussed by Ryan *et al.* (2017) and Stock (2017). The costs and benefits of precocious flowering have been less discussed.

We found no information on how flowering phenology in plants of the northern Sahel responds to the considerable inter-annual variation in rainfall that characterises the region. However, as in the case of seasonal variation, forbs,

Tree and shrub species	Dry season (1st half)	Dry season (2nd half)	Rainy season (1st half)	Rainy season (2nd half)
Calotropis procera (Aiton) Aiton				
Guiera senegalensis J.F.Gmel.				
Balanites aegyptiaca (L.) Delile				
Adansonia digitata L.				
Adenium obesum (Forssk.) Roem. & Schult.				
Commiphora africana Engl.				
Boscia senegalensis Lam.				
Boscia integrifolia J.StHil (syn: Boscia angustifolia A.Rich.)				
Combretum nigricans Lepr. ex Guill. & Perr.				
Faidherbia albida (Delile) A.Chev.				
Leptadenia hastata Vatcke				
Combretum aculeatum Vent.				
Vachellia seyal (Delile) P.J.H.Hurter				
Leptadenia pyrotechnica (Forssk.) Decne.				
Terminalia avicennioides Guill. & Perr.				
Combretum glutinosum Perr. ex DC.				
Combretum micranthum G.Don				
Tamarindus indica L.				
Dalbergia melanoxylon Guill. & Perr.				
Dichrostachys cinerea (L.) Wight & Arn.				
Vachellia nilotica (L.) P.J.H.Hurter & Mabb.				
Sterculia setigera Delile				_
Senegalia senegal (L.) Britton (syn : Acacia senegal)				
Pterocarpus lucens Lepr. ex Guill. & Perr.				
Vachellia tortilis subsp. raddiana (Savi) Kyal. & Boatwr.				
Grewia damine Gaertn. (syn: Grewia bicolor Juss.)				
Ziziphus mauritiana Lam.				

Table 2. Seasonal patterns in flowering phenology of Sahelian tree species (Arbonnier, 2000). [Correction added on 30 November 2024, after first online publication: Shading in Table 2 has been amended.]

Table 3. Phenological types of Sahelian tree species (Hiernaux *et al.*, 1994).

Phenological type	Example species
<ol> <li>Deciduous trees with short-lived leaves</li> <li>Deciduous trees with long-lived</li> </ol>	Commiphora africana, Capparis decidua Vachellia tortilis, Combretum
(3) Deciduous trees with variable	aculeatum Balanites aegyptiaca, Ziziphus
leafing phenology	mauritianus
(4) Pre-rainy season evergreens	Piliostigma reticulatum, Combretum glutinosum
(5) Post-rainy season evergreens	Boscia senegalensis, Bauhinia rufescens

particularly the annual species that predominate in the region, are expected to be much more sensitive to interannual variation than are trees (Wright *et al.*, 2015). The composition of annual species, both grasses and forbs, is completely determined by the dynamics of their soil seed banks. Seeds of most annual grasses of the northern Sahel germinate rapidly early in the rainy season, whereas seeds of most forbs germinate slowly, and may fail to germinate in large numbers in very dry years. The relative success of these two germination strategies varies in complex ways both in space, in response to variation in soil type, degree of shade, litter accumulation, and grazing pressure, and in time, with variation among years in total rainfall and its temporal patterning (Breman & de Ridder, 1991). The abundance of forbs (and thus of resources for flower-visiting insects) and their species composition are both likely to show correspondingly great variation in space and among years.

There are many open questions about the phenology of floral resources in the Sahel. First, information on diel cycles in the production of floral resources in northern Sahelian savannas has never been synthesised; only scattered information exists for particular species. Some forbs are night-blooming, in keeping with observed (e.g. *Pancratium*; Manning & Smith, 2017) or expected (e.g. *Datura metel*; Table 1) pollination by moths. The most detailed studies on 1469185x, 0, Downloaded from https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1111/brv.13170 by Doyle McKey - Cochrane French Guiana, Wiley Online Library on [05/122024]. See the Terms and Conditions (https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/

and-conditions) on Wiley Online Library for rules of use; OA articles are governed by the applicable Creative Commons License

diel cycles in production of floral resources - conducted elsewhere in Africa but including species found in the Sahel - are those of Stone, Willmer & Nee (1996) and Stone et al. (1998) on Acacia spp. (including Vachellia and Senegalia). As emphasised by Stone et al. (1996), community data sets consistently show varying degrees of flowering season overlap, particularly in arid environments where flowering season may be constrained by climate. When such co-flowering species share pollinators, diurnal separation of flowering times minimises this overlap, allowing temporal partitioning of pollinators. This temporal separation could transform interspecific competition into facilitation, in which the floral resources provided by several species combine to maintain their shared pollinators. Stone et al. (1998) showed that sympatric co-flowering African Acacia spp. exhibited high intraspecific synchrony in pollen release, but that different species released their pollen at different times of day. Such temporal separation between related species reduces both interspecific competition and the risk of interspecific pollen transfer and hybridisation.

Similarly, there is only scattered information on longevity of individual flowers. Those of *Commelina* spp., known as dayflowers, typically last less than one day, but opening times during the day vary among species (Faden, 2000). Flowers of *Citrullus colocynthis* are reported to open early in the morning and also last only one day (Kuti & Rovelo, 1992).

#### III. STATE OF KNOWLEDGE ABOUT THE FAUNA OF FLOWER-VISITING AND POLLINATING INSECTS IN SAHELIAN SAVANNAS

#### (1) Hymenoptera

Bees (Anthophila) are the most important pollinators in most ecosystems. Both social and solitary bees are completely dependent on floral resources throughout their life cycle. In contrast to most flower-visiting insects, bees seek primarily pollen and not only nectar, and thus act not only as pollinators but also as herbivores, whose consumption of pollen does not benefit the plant. Plants have thus evolved diverse strategies to protect pollen and maximise its transfer to conspecific stigmas, and bees have developed strategies to counter these and efficiently exploit pollen. This interplay of strategies is an important dimension of specialisation in bee-flower interactions (Praz, 2008). Bees differ in their ecological requirements, and thus in their ecogeographic distribution. Tropical grasslands, especially drylands like the northern Sahel, are dominated by solitary bees. Around three-quarters of solitary bee species are ground-nesting (Antoine & Forrest, 2021). The much lower prevalence of fungal or other pathogens that could destroy brood or nest provisions probably contributes to the greater frequency of ground-nesting in arid environments compared to the humid tropics (Michener, 1979; Winfree, 2010). In warm-temperate dry environments, most solitary bee species have short activity periods (sometimes only a few weeks), with usually a single generation per year and extended adult, prepupal or larval diapause (Danforth, Minckley & Neff, 2019). Different species have short, overlapping flight periods, and the impossibility of seasonal segregation may favour specialisation on one or a few related pollen hosts. However, in dry tropical grasslands such as the northern Sahel, polylectic species predominate, and life cycles have not been studied (see Table 4). The short duration of forb flowering periods, the greater unpredictability of forb flowering across years, and the availability of tree flowers throughout the year, may all favour polylectic species, with longer-lived adults or with multiple generations per year.

There are important fundamental gaps in our knowledge of bee biology (Winfree, 2010). For tropical Africa, whose

Table 4. Characteristics of bee communities in tropical grasslands compared to warm-temperate dry environments.

Bee community	Characteristics	Nesting habits and life cycles	Prevalence of specialists	Flowering phenology
Tropical grasslands, including the northern Sahel	Dominated by solitary bees; predominantly polylectic species. Bee fauna less diverse compared to warm-temperate dry environments	Most are ground-nesting; solitary bees usually have short-lived adults with single generation per year (some species with extended diapause), but life cycles of Sahelian species apparently unknown	Predominantly polylectic species; few pollen specialists recorded ( <i>Ctenoplectra</i> spp. (Apidae), <i>Systropha</i> spp. (Halictidae)	Short flowering periods of forbs, great inter-annual climatic variation, and availability of tree flowers throughout the year favour polylectic species
Warm-temperate dry environments	Dominated by solitary bees; richer bee fauna than tropical grasslands; presence of oligolectic species; in most xeric areas, flowering of forbs and bee flight seasons tend to be synchronised on favourable seasons	Ground-nesting; short-lived adults with single generation per year; overlapping flight periods	Presence of both polylectic and oligolectic species	Long flowering periods; cold limits insect activity during winter

Biological Reviews (2024) 000–000 © 2024 The Author(s). Biological Reviews published by John Wiley & Sons Ltd on behalf of Cambridge Philosophical Society.

bee fauna is poorly studied relative to those of other regions, these gaps are even larger. The depauperate nature of the African bee fauna compared to that of other tropical regions (Michener, 1979) may be more apparent than real, as there are probably many undescribed species (Eardley, Gikungu & Schwarz, 2009). The gaps concern not only species richness, but also basic information on biology, even for common bee species. Apart from a few cases discussed in Section II.2 – bees visiting oil flowers, keel flowers, and buzz-pollinated flowers - little is known about bee and flower traits that may constrain interactions between particular species. To the best of our knowledge, there are no multi-year studies monitoring populations of any bee over time in the northern Sahel. Little appears to be known about the lifespan, fecundity, and seasonal and annual life cycles of bee species in the region. Interestingly, bivoltine or multivoltine life cycles are more frequent in Halictidae, which are diverse in the Sahel, than in other solitary bees (Danforth et al., 2019). The question of what factors limit bee populations is globally little explored, and completely unexplored in the Sahel.

Three other groups of Hymenoptera – aculeate wasps (sphecoids and vespoids), hymenopteran parasitoids, and ants - frequently visit flowers and are well represented in Sahelian savannas. Unlike bees, these insects (with the exception of masarine pollen wasps; see Table 5) depend on flowers for only part of their food. Aculeate wasps - that is those with stings – are well represented and abundant in the Sahel. Some solitary wasps are prey specialists (e.g. Pompilidae feed only on spiders), while others (e.g. Crabronidae) feed on a vast diversity of prey. Social wasps are opportunistic generalist predators (Table 5). Like aculeate wasps, hymenopteran parasitoids are extremely diverse and frequent floral visitors in the northern Sahel. Predatory and parasitoid wasps use nectar to fuel their search for prey and hosts, respectively. Ants are also frequent flower visitors. They may play a role in pollination of a few prostrate herbs in the Sahel, but otherwise their roles in floral ecology are indirect (preying on florivores, dissuading pollinators).

#### (2) Diptera

Diptera are usually considered the second most important group of pollinators (Ollerton, 2017). Africa harbours a rich dipteran fauna, and the savannas have a much greater species richness than the rainforest regions (Kirk-Spriggs & Stuckenberg, 2010). A three-volume treatise edited by Kirk-Spriggs & Sinclair (2017–2021) provides a wealth of information on Afrotropical Diptera. The hairy bodies of many Diptera make them effective pollen transporters (Cook *et al.*, 2020). Larson, Kevan & Inouye (2001) list 55 families that include flower-visiting species. Among the most important are Bombyliidae and Syrphidae, both well represented in Sahelian savannas. Many Bombyliidae are "major pollinators of arid-area flowering plants, especially annuals" (Evenhuis & Lamas, 2017, p. 1020). Afrotropical representatives of these families occur mainly in semi-arid and arid regions (Banda *et al.*, 2020). The high mobility of hoverflies should enable them to effect pollen transport in plant species occurring at low densities or in fragmented habitats (Doyle *et al.*, 2020). However, this has not been studied in Afrotropical syrphids.

Like hymenopteran predators and parasitoids, many flower-visiting flies use nectar to fuel their search for larval hosts or prey. Davis *et al.* (2023) present extensive data on diet and habitats of both larval and adult stages of pollinating Diptera. While many short-tongued Diptera visit open-access flowers, several families, including Syrphidae, Bombyliidae, Tabanidae, and others, have long-tongued members that can exploit nectar in long-tubular corollas (Krenn, Plant & Szucsich, 2005). Like predatory and parasitic Hymenoptera, flower-visiting Diptera perform numerous ecosystem functions in addition to pollination (e.g. regulation of host and prey populations; decomposition), and their frequent position at high trophic levels makes them good indicators of the continued presence of the diverse organisms comprising the food webs on which they depend (see Table 6).

Among the numerous other fly families that include highly effective pollinators are the Calliphoridae (blow flies) and Tabanidae (horse and deer flies), two families with important impacts on the health of humans and animals, particularly in pastoralist economies.

#### (3) Lepidoptera

Lepidoptera are frequent floral visitors and pollinators. Ollerton (2017) considered this order the most diverse of all groups of insect pollinators, owing to the undoubtedly large number of – mostly unstudied – flower-visiting moths. Larvae of almost all butterflies and moths are phytophagous, and it is not surprising that their diversity generally follows latitudinal gradients of plant diversity and productivity (Delabye *et al.*, 2022; Pinkert *et al.*, 2022). We found no studies of butterfly or moth pollination in the northern Sahel, but the three moth families most frequently cited as pollinators elsewhere – Sphingidae, Noctuidae, and Geometridae (Table 7) – are all well represented. Among butterflies, Pieridae and Lycaenidae are particularly abundant, and the region's butterfly fauna includes one famous long-distance migrant, the Painted Lady (Nymphalidae) (see Table 7).

#### (4) Coleoptera

Beetles of over 30 families have been observed to visit flowers (Muinde & Katumo, 2024). Although beetle-pollination systems were long thought to be relatively inefficient, Coleoptera are now considered to be fourth among insect orders in importance as pollinators, and second in importance, after Hymenoptera, in tropical ecosystems (Muinde & Katumo, 2024). Among the most significant are the flower beetles, or flower chafers (Scarabaeidae: Cetoniinae) (Ollerton, 2017). Numerous weevil species (Curculionoidea) are involved in specific brood-site pollination mutualisms with various tropical trees, and some of these occur in the Sahel (Table 8).

Biological Reviews (2024) 000-000 © 2024 The Author(s). Biological Reviews published by John Wiley & Sons Ltd on behalf of Cambridge Philosophical Society.

Hymenopteran group	Characteristics	Importance in pollination	References
Halictidae	Short-tongued bees; diverse; may include cryptic species; most oligolectic African species are from Mediterranean north Africa and South Africa	Critical pollinators, they pollinate a variety of plants; high diversity of morphologically similar species. The nine species of <i>Systropha</i> encountered in the Afrotropics (the only known oligolects in the region) are frequently collected in flowers of Convolvulaceae. Several species of this plant family are abundant in the Sahel but their pollination is unstudied	Michener (1979); Pauly (1984); Patiny <i>et al.</i> (2007); Danforth <i>et al.</i> (2008); Eardley <i>et al.</i> (2010)
Megachilidae, <i>Xylocopa</i> spp.	Long-tongued	Critical pollinators, they exploit nectar and pollen hidden in structures such as long-tubular corollas	Alexander & Michener (1995)
Aculeate wasps (sphecoids and vespoids)	Abundant in the Sahel; solitary predators (97%) or parasites of other arthropods; floral nectar fuels their search for prey. Viewed as nuisances, the value of the ecosystem services they provide is widely overlooked	Generalists; specific contributions to pollination effectiveness are not extensively studied	Brock et al. (2021)
Masarinae (Vespidae)	Solitary wasps adopting feeding habits similar to bees; provision larvae with pollen and nectar; only three Masarinae species have been recorded from West Africa. Documented cases of obligate pollination by specific species	May contribute to pollination, especially in cases of specific plant associations. Poorly represented in the Sahel	Gess (1992); Carpenter (2001); Gess & Gess (2004)
Ichneumonoidea, Chalcidoidea	Two hyperdiverse superfamilies (for Chalicidoidea, estimates of more than 500,000 species); use nectar for energy to search for hosts, as well as other plant-derived foods (e.g. honeydew). Complex host-specific interactions; role in controlling arthropod populations	Limited information about their role as pollinators; generalist and frequent flower visitors; lack of comprehensive studies on parasitoid–flower interactions	Jervis et al. (1993); Smith et al. (2008); Menz et al. (2015); Zemenick et al. (2019); Cruaud et al. (2024); Polaszek & Vilhemsen (2023)
Ants	Frequently visit flowers, where they play diverse roles. Some species exploit floral resources; presence may enhance or reduce pollination services depending on interactions with other floral visitors	Pollinators of a few plant species (e.g. <i>Euphorbia</i> spp., <i>Phyllanthus</i> spp.); may enhance pollination services in some plant species by causing pollinators to make shorter visits and move more frequently between plants	Altshuler (1999); Romero & Vasconcellos-Neto (2004); De Vega & Gómez (2014); Rostás <i>et al.</i> (2018)

Table 5. Characteristics of hymenopteran flower visitors.

## (5) Insect phenology in the harsh, variable, and highly seasonal climates of the Sahel

Like the phenological traits of plants, those of insects, assessed in relation to seasonal and diel cycles and interannual variation, influence the roles they can play in insect–flower networks.

Patterns of seasonality in insect activity in the seasonally dry tropics are extremely diverse. For each species, detailed data on its complete life cycle are required to understand its seasonal patterns, but 35 years after the seminal study by Wolda (1988), such data are still limited. In many species, resources for immature stages are seasonally limited. For example, among flower-visiting insects, many dipteran families, including some Syrphidae, have aquatic larvae (Wagner *et al.*, 2008) and reproduce strictly in the rainy season. Similarly, insects whose immature stages depend on young growth of plants (or are parasites or predators of phytophagous insects) also have highly seasonal reproduction, often restricted to small fractions of the growing season. For example, parasitoids that attack different host stages (larvae, pupae) emerge earlier or later, respectively, in the growing season (Hopkins, Roininen & Sääksjärvi, 2019). After their 1469185x, 0, Downloaded from https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1111/brv.13170 by Doyle McKey - Cochrane French Guiana, Wiley Online Library on [05/12/2024]. See the Terms and Conditions (https://online conditions) on Wiley Online Library for rules of use; OA articles are governed by the applicable Creative Commons License

12

Dipteran group	Principal families	Characteristics	Importance in pollination	References
	Syrphidae (hoverflies)	Adults feed on nectar and pollen, require pollen for ovarian development. Some long-tongued species can exploit deep- tubular flowers; not restricted to a limited home range and may carry pollen over longer distances than bees	Highly effective pollinators, generalist visitors of many flower species, show floral consistency at the individual level	Larson <i>et al.</i> (2001); Doyle <i>et al.</i> (2020)
	Bombyliidae (beeflies)	Adults feed on nectar and pollen. Elongate proboscides enable them to feed on concealed nectar; some species feed on keeled flowers of faboid legumes but do not trigger the pollen-release mechanism	Highly effective pollinators, generalist visitors of many flower species	Kastinger & Weber (2001); Evenhuis & Lamas (2017)
	Nemestrinidae	Important pollinators in arid and semi-arid regions	Significant contributors to pollination, especially in regions with low rainfall	Banda <i>et al.</i> (2020)
Muscoidea	Calliphoridae, Anthomyiidae, Muscidae (common housefly)	Various species feed on nectar and pollen	Provide pollination services	Cook <i>et al.</i> (2020)
Various families of small flies	Mythicomyiidae, Chloropidae, Phoridae, Milichiidae	Diverse but poorly sampled; nectar and pollen of trees appear to be key resources for these and many other savanna Diptera	The role of Diptera as pollinators of flowering trees is likely underestimated in Africa	Kirk-Spriggs & Muller (2017)

Table 7. Characteristics of lepidopteran flower visitors.

Lepidopteran group	Characteristics	Importance in pollination	References
Sphingidae	Hawkmoths, hovering moths with varying proboscis lengths	Key pollinators in tropical and warm temperate regions; some species have long tongues for deep-reward flowers (Johnson & Raguso, 2016). They have been observed feeding on Adansonia digitata (Malvaceae) in South Africa, Pancratium tenuifolium (Amaryllidaceae) and other Sahelian forb species, including Ipomoea (Convolvulaceae) and Datura (Solanaceae)	Ballesteros-Mejia et al. (2013); Johnson & Raguso (2016); Delabye et al. (2022); Karimi et al. (2022)
Noctuidae, Geometridae	Settling moths with shorter tongues	Rely on floral nectar as a food source. Plants likely visited include <i>Kohautia tenuis</i> (Rubiaceae), <i>Dipcadi</i> spp., <i>Drimia</i> spp. (both Asparagaceae)	Axmacher <i>et al.</i> (2009); Hahn & Brühl (2016); Hurme <i>et al.</i> (2022)
Pieridae	Abundant and diverse in Sahelian savannas. Larval hosts include Capparaceae (e.g. <i>Boscia</i> ) and related plants	Known for long-distance migration	Cosson et al. (1996)
Nymphalidae	Includes the Painted Lady (Vanessa carduii), known for long-distance migrations. It has among the widest known larval- host ranges of any butterfly. Zomia elochidiata noted as a host in Senegal	Painted Lady migrates annually from West Africa to Europe, multiple generations per year during seasonal ranges	Hu et al. (2021); Talavera et al. (2023)
Lycaenidae	Abundant in Sahelian savannas, includes <i>Chilades eleusis.</i> Seasonal polymorphism has been recorded in some Indian species of this genus	Shorter proboscis and smaller bodies than Nymphalidae, Pieridae, Papilionidae, and Hesperiidae; restricted to flowers with shorter corolla tubes. Known to feed on Asteraceae flowers in open grasslands	Larsen (2005); Staude <i>et al.</i> (2020)

Biological Reviews (2024) 000–000 © 2024 The Author(s). Biological Reviews published by John Wiley & Sons Ltd on behalf of Cambridge Philosophical Society.

Coleopteran group	Characteristics	Importance in pollination	References
Scarabaeidae: Cetoniinae	Flower beetles are important pollinators; some are destructive herbivores of fruits and flowers; Afrotropical region has the greatest number of endemic genera of cetoniines. Larvae feed on decaying plant material, contributing to nutrient cycling; detailed ecology of African species largely unknown	More effective in transporting outcross pollen than widely believed. Often visit generalist flowers, but some plants have specific adaptations for pollination by cetoniines	Ollerton <i>et al.</i> (2003); Matsuki <i>et al.</i> (2008); Mudge <i>et al.</i> (2012); Touroult & Le Gall (2013); Mitchell <i>et al.</i> (2020)
Curculionoidea	Many involved in specialised brood-site pollination mutualisms with plants of various families; larvae often develop within plant tissues, contributing to nutrient cycling	Important pollinators of a few tree species in the Sahel. They are flower visitors of Annona senegalensis (Annonaceae), Piliostigma reticulatum (Fabaceae)	Dao et al. (2023); Haran et al. (2023)

Table 8. Characteristics of coleopteran flower visitors.

short breeding season, these insects pass the dry season in a dormant state, as diapausing eggs, larvae, or pupae. Other parasitoids are polyphagous, using a succession of hosts and breeding through a longer period of the year (Kabore et al., 2017). If adult resources continue to be available, insects may remain active, spending the dry season as adults in reproductive diapause. However, surviving a tropical dry season, particularly while remaining active, is much costlier energetically than surviving a temperate-zone winter (Denlinger, 2023). Floral nectar – which in the Sahelian dry season is produced only by trees and shrubs - may represent a key resource that allows dry-season activity of many insects. Floral nectar also supplies another crucial resource, water (e.g. Benoit et al., 2023). A few insect species may even be able to reproduce year-round, even in the strongly seasonal climates of the northern Sahel. For example, both immature and adult stages of bees depend on nectar and pollen, and if at least some flowers are available, generalist bees might be able to breed year-round. Solitary bees vary, both within and among species, in their strategies of diapause and life history, with some tropical species not undergoing diapause (Santos, Arias & Kapheim, 2019). Whether some solitary bee species of the northern Sahel are active year-round is apparently unknown.

Signals and proximate mechanisms underlying dormancy and emergence from dormancy are not well understood in tropical insects, where temperature and photoperiod are less seasonally variable than in temperate environments. The timing of rainfall and its spatial patchiness in the seasonally dry tropics is often unpredictable (Denlinger, 2023). This may constrain the evolution of dormancy mechanisms and favour dispersal or migratory behaviour as an adaptation to seasonality (Jones, 1987). Thus, despite its costs, remaining active in the adult stage has important advantages, among them the ability to disperse opportunistically to new sites when favourable conditions reappear (Wolda, 1988).

Seasonal insect migrations are widespread, and have important consequences for pollination, as well as many other

ecosystem processes (Satterfield *et al.*, 2020). Long-distance migration appears to be an important component of the adaptation of Sahelian insects to seasonality. Borne by favourable southerly winds, huge numbers of insects of at least 100 families of 13 orders migrate from southern source regions into the Sahel each wet season, most of which make a return migration (again with favourable winds) at the end of the rainy season (Florio *et al.*, 2020). Migrants include representatives of numerous families with species known to visit flowers.

Beyond the importance of migration for many species, little is known about the seasonal phenology of arthropod communities in the northern Sahel. Working in the southern Sahel in western Senegal, Lingbeek et al. (2017) found that arthropod species richness was greater in the rainy season for all habitat types studied. However, arthropod taxa differed in their responses to seasonality. Whereas beetle richness was greater in the rainy season, richness of spiders and ants, two other diverse taxa represented by large numbers of morphospecies, was not significantly different between rainy and dry seasons. The structure of arthropod assemblages varied among seasons, and among habitat types. The effects of seasonality on assemblages of flower-visiting insects in the northern Sahel are expected to be highly variable across taxonomic and functional categories of insects. Insects whose immature stages depend on young vegetative growth, for example, may show stronger seasonality. By contrast, insects whose food resources supply water even in the dry season - for example predators such as ants - may be less affected by seasonal variation in rainfall. Similarly, nectar exploited by insects that visit flowers of trees may confer greater independence from current rainfall, enabling them to remain active during the dry season.

#### IV. NETWORK STRUCTURE AND FUNCTION

Recognising threats to biodiversity and the ecosystem functions it provides, as well as monitoring and managing these threats, begins with an understanding of how each of the multiple plant and animal actors is linked to the others.

Analysis of the structure and dynamics of interaction networks is thus key to the nexus of biodiversity and restoration ecology (Kaiser-Bunbury *et al.*, 2017). Whether networks are robust to changes in species composition or are resilient, maintaining their functioning in the face of environmental changes, remains unknown for networks of flowers and flower-visiting insects in the northern Sahel. In fact, in Africa as a whole few studies of these interactions have applied a network approach (Vizentin-Bugoni *et al.*, 2018; for a recent example, see Dzekashu *et al.*, 2023), and we know of only one from sub-Saharan West Africa, in Sudanian savannas in Burkina Faso (Stein *et al.*, 2020).

What does the information presented above on traits of flowers and of the insects that visit them suggest about the structure and functioning of insect–flower networks in the northern Sahel?

First, the high proportion of species with open-access, generalist flowers, visited by diverse insects, suggests that morphological mismatches between flowers and insects may not constrain interactions to as great an extent as in many other tropical pollination networks (Vizentin-Bugoni et al., 2018). Plant-pollinator networks tend to feature predominantly nested architecture in which interactions of specialist species are included within those of a densely connected core of generalist species in a hierarchical structure (Bascompte et al., 2003). By contrast, modular networks feature subsets of species that preferentially interact with one another (Olesen et al., 2007). The present evidence suggests that few such modules of interacting specialists are evident in the Sahel, compared with networks studied elsewhere in the tropics. A nested structure makes networks more resilient (Thébault & Fontaine, 2010), and the core of generalists plays a key role. Where generalists predominate, some sets of species may be functionally redundant, allowing persistence of network dynamics if some species are lost (Biggs et al., 2020). Also, seed production tends to be less impacted by reduced pollination services in plants with generalised pollination systems than in those with specialised pollination systems, making the former less vulnerable to variation in pollinator availability (Rodger *et al.*, 2021).

Second, the phenology of plants and of pollinators critically affects their roles in networks (Encinas-Viso, Revilla & Etienne, 2012; Guzman et al., 2021). Given the marked seasonality of the Sahel, spatio-temporal non-overlap probably greatly limits the proportion of all potentially possible interactions that actually occur. Insect species with a long period of activity can potentially interact with a larger number of plant species (e.g. De Manincor et al., 2020). However, little information exists on the duration of flight seasons of flower-visiting insects in the Sahel. Likewise, plant species with long flowering seasons can potentially interact with a larger number of insect species. Trees have longer individual flowering seasons than forbs, and some tree species have longer flowering periods than others (e.g. Combretaceae; Coulibaly et al., 2020). Given their open-access flowers, their longer individual flowering seasons, and the fact that they collectively offer floral resources throughout the year, trees are likely to interact with a greater diversity of insects than do forbs. They are also a more reliable resource, as their flowering is less affected by inter-annual climatic variation than that of forbs (Wright et al., 2015). As central nodes in networks, connected to many other species, they may be keystone species, whose disappearance would have a disproportionate effect on network persistence. Two kinds of centrality have been identified, and these appear to reflect different ways in which species act as keystones (Martín-González, Dalsgaard & Olesen, 2010). Closeness centrality (CC) of a node (species) measures its proximity to other nodes in the network. Species with high CC have the potential to affect many other species. Betweenness centrality (BC) identifies nodes that connect different parts of the network that otherwise would not be connected. In the northern Sahel, strong seasonality could lead to distinct seasonal sub-networks of flower-visiting insects. If this is so, trees may play an important role in connecting them.

Third, the surprisingly high diversity of flower-visiting insects in the northern Sahel (N. Medina-Serrano, A.-G. Bagnères, M. M. Ndiaye, V. Vrecko, D. McKey & M. Hossaert-McKey, in preparation) could increase the robustness of insect–flower networks, buffering them against the loss of individual species. Such "biodiversity insurance" could be particularly important in buffering against temporal variation in network functioning owing to phenological shifts caused by climatic fluctuation or climate change (Bartomeus *et al.*, 2013).

The apparent predominance of generalist plants that attract a diversity of flower-visiting insects, and the likely role of trees as connectors, represent sources of resilience in insect-flower networks in the northern Sahel. However, there is also potential network fragility. Whereas each tree species interacts with a large number of insect visitors, each insect visitor interacts with only a small number of tree species. Such asymmetry is a general feature of plant-pollinator networks. Consequently, removal of a plant species from the network is more likely to destabilise interactions than removal of an insect species (Jordano, Bascompte & Olesen, 2006). In the northern Sahel, where a few abundant tree species support a diverse fauna of flower-visiting insects, this asymmetry is particularly extreme. Consequently, the stability of networks may hinge on the floral resources provided by a small number of tree species during crucial periods. Failure of a crucial hub to flower in an unfavourable year therefore could have far-reaching consequences (cf. Erenler, Gillman & Ollerton, 2020).

To summarise, traits of both flowers and insects suggest networks featuring greater levels of generalism than in most pollination networks, indicating higher functional redundancy and hence greater robustness. As noted above, such opportunistic strategies of both flowering plants and flower-visiting insects may offer great advantages in dry, variable, and unpredictable environments. To our knowledge, only one study (Devoto, Medan & Montaldo, 2005) has attempted to test the hypothesis that generalism of flower visitors varies over a precipitation gradient. 1469185x, 0, Downloaded from https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1111/brv.13170 by Doyle McKey - Cochrane French Guiana, Wiley Online Library on [05/1/22024]. See the Terms and Conditions (https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/terms-and-conditions) on Wiley Online Library for rules of use; OA articles are governed by the applicable/Creative Commons

However, their temperate-zone study covered a gradient from forest to shrub-grassland steppe, and even the driest site (mean annual rainfall 700 mm) was much wetter than the northern Sahel.

### V. OPEN QUESTIONS AND RESEARCH PRIORITIES

#### (1) Structure and functioning of insect-flower networks and the impact of climate fluctuation and climate change

Our knowledge of the relationships between plants and their pollinators is far from complete (Ollerton, 2021), and even less is known about insect-flower interaction networks in the northern Sahel than in most parts of the world. Trees are likely crucial to the resilience of networks in the northern Sahel, due to their flowering extending over the year and to their great diversity of insect visitors (e.g. Tybirk, 1993; Stone et al., 2003). However, it is not known whether some species are particularly important as keystone links or whether, on the contrary, trees collectively support diverse flower visitors. For forbs, information on insects visiting their flowers is completely lacking. Are they visited by a distinct set of species active only during the brief rainy season, or by species that also visit trees during all periods of the year? Information on nocturnal flower-visiting insects is also completely lacking. The hordes of insects present during rainy-season nights in the Ferlo make night-time sampling uncomfortable, but they also promise a rich assemblage of nocturnal flower visitors.

Phenological data are crucial for guiding and monitoring restoration actions (Buisson et al., 2017). How does flowering phenology vary, seasonally and across years? In environments where a few plant species provide the sole resources for flower-dependent insects in some seasons, failure to flower in unfavourable years could have far-reaching consequences. Can periods of particular network fragility be identified? Also, networks are not static, they are dynamic, with their composition and structure changing over time. How variable is network structure among years? The forb flora of the northern Sahel is dominated by annual species with long-lived seed banks. In such plant communities, seeds of different species may respond differently to germination cues such as the amount and timing of precipitation, so that composition of the forb flora varies among years (Huang et al., 2016). Does such variation affect assemblages of floral visitors? Does the ecological functioning of networks continue despite changes in species composition? In environments like the northern Sahel characterised by strong interannual variation, long-term studies are particularly necessary for understanding network structure and dynamics and their effects on ecosystem resilience.

Flowering phenology shapes plants' roles in the resilience of insect–flower networks, and climate change will affect phenology. Long-term phenological studies, supported by weather stations providing basic data on temperature, humidity, precipitation, and wind, are thus of crucial importance. Altered floral phenology can have cascading effects on many interactions, from those with co-flowering plant species (facilitation or competition) to those with animals (including humans) that are dependent on flowers, fruits, and seeds (Buisson *et al.*, 2017). How common is the intraspecific genetic variation in phenological traits found by Diatta *et al.* (2022) for *Senegalia senegal?* Such variation, along with plasticity, could be a source of resilience to climate change.

Finally, nothing is known about how climate change may impact the phenology of flower-visiting insects in the Sahel and their biotic interactions. What are the life cycles of flower-visiting insects? What are the relative roles of adult resources, including floral rewards, and resources for immature stages in determining insect phenologies? What strategies – for example diapause (Hahn & Denlinger, 2011), restriction to humid refugia (Janzen, 1973), migration (Florio *et al.*, 2020) – allow different species to persist during the dry season? What is known about inter-annual variation in populations of flower-visiting insects in the northern Sahel?

Among the most frequently noted likely effects of climate change on species interactions is phenological mismatch, for example between plants and pollinators (Gérard *et al.*, 2020). Climate change can also lead to phenological mismatch between insects whose adults visit flowers and these insects' larval resources. Studies conducted elsewhere suggest that increased climatic variability makes it difficult for parasitoids to track their prey, resulting in decreased rates of parasitism (Stireman *et al.*, 2005), which would lead to decreased numbers of parasitoid adults visiting flowers. Thus, monitoring the abundance of parasitoids at flowers could provide information about effects of climate change on ecosystem health.

The Sahel has been described as a climate change hotspot (Niang *et al.*, 2014a). Senegal, for example, has already experienced record climatic variability in recent decades (Sultan *et al.*, 2020) and this variability is projected to increase further (Niang *et al.*, 2014a). Arid zones are projected to become more arid, with droughts becoming 2–4 times more frequent depending on the magnitude of warming (IPCC Working group II, 2022). There is thus great potential for effects of climate change on species interactions. In addition to phenological mismatch, climate change could affect plant–pollinator interactions in the region in other ways, *via* the numerous negative physiological effects of high temperatures and increasing aridity on pollinators and plants (Scaven & Rafferty, 2013; Kuppler & Kotowska, 2021).

### (2) Do livestock impact insect-flower interactions in the northern Sahel?

Extensive pastoralism is the predominant land use in the northern Sahel, and is frequently implicated as a causal factor of environmental degradation and biodiversity loss. Gebremedhn *et al.* (2023) showed that increasing grazing intensity in northern Senegal led to decreased biomass and diversity of herbaceous plants, reduced vegetation cover, and changes in

community composition. Such changes can affect insects in various ways. Effects of livestock grazing on animals may be direct (e.g. trampling, unintentional predation) or indirect, mediated by effects on plants (van Klink *et al.*, 2015). Several recent studies have reviewed the impact of livestock grazing on biodiversity and on biotic interactions such as those between plants and flower-visiting insects. A recent global meta-analysis showed that grazing reduces plant sexual reproduction, while increasing plant asexual reproduction (Wentao *et al.*, 2023). Another meta-analysis (Filazzola *et al.*, 2020) showed that herbivore exclusion results in increased diversity and abundance of animals, especially of those that are directly dependent on plants such as herbivores and pollinators.

We know of no data describing the impact of livestock on plant-pollinator interactions in the northern Sahel, and we consider this a major gap in research supporting ecosystem restoration efforts in the region. Discourse around degradation in the Sahel has often been framed in terms of the capacity of the soil and the vegetation to support primary production. Less attention has been given to the impact of land use on biodiversity. The study by Gebremedhn et al. (2023) is a recent exception. Biodiversity of dryland savannas frequently attracts less scientific attention than that of other environments because of the perception of drylands as bare regions containing low diversity (Durant et al., 2012; Murphy, Andersen & Parr, 2016). Also neglected are the biotic interactions that support multiple ecosystem functions, including pollination and other functions performed by flower-visiting insects. We identify below four outstanding questions about the impact of livestock on insect-flower interactions in the northern Sahel.

### (a) How do livestock-induced changes in vegetation affect the abundance, diversity, and composition of flower-visiting insects?

Livestock trample soil and create bare ground. While this can negatively impact some arthropod species, it may favour others. For example, bare-soil areas create favourable nest sites for halictid bees. These are among the most important pollinators in the region (Pesenko & Pauly, 2005), and are relatively little affected by habitat degradation (Williams, 2011). Livestock may also alter the abundance, diversity, and composition of floral resources. Some authors have tended to downplay the contribution of intensive grazing and browsing to ecosystem degradation in the northern Sahel, contending that degradation is primarily driven by periodic multi-year droughts rather than overgrazing (Delay et al., 2022; Turner et al., 2023), and that this degradation is reversible, with "regreening" of the Sahel during more humid periods (Brandt et al., 2017). Studies in the Ferlo have shown, however, that grazing and browsing, as well as climate, affect the species composition of herbaceous (Miehe et al., 2010; Gebremedhn et al., 2023) and woody vegetation (Vincke, Diédhiou & Grouzis, 2010) in ways that reflect rangeland degradation. Furthermore, although regreening does occur in wetter periods, species composition is altered and biodiversity loss continues (Dendoncker et al., 2020). Do these changes alter the

abundance and composition of floral resources for insects? Miehe et al. (2010) found that heavy grazing favoured the dominance of grasses (wind-pollinated) over forbs (insect-pollinated). By contrast, Gebremedhn et al. (2023) found that heavy grazing favoured dominance of forbs, but in particular the dominance of a single invasive forb species, thus increasing the abundance but decreasing the diversity of floral resources. Vincke et al. (2010) showed that heavy browsing exacerbated drought effects on trees, reducing their density, size, and diversity, and altering species composition. How these changes affect insect-flower interactions has not been investigated, although studies in East African savannas suggest the impact may be important. In Tanzania, Lasway et al. (2022) and Mpondo et al. (2023) found that heavy grazing strongly negatively affected the abundance and richness of flower-visiting insects. In Kenya, Guy et al. (2021) found that exclusion of wild mammalian herbivores led to large increases in the size and richness of insect-flower networks.

### (b) What are the impacts on insect-flower interactions of changes in the functional composition of livestock assemblages?

Throughout the drylands of sub-Saharan Africa, populations of browsers (goats and camels) are increasing, while those of grazers (cattle) are decreasing (Rahimi et al., 2022). In Senegal, populations of small ruminants are increasing more rapidly than those of cattle and populations of goats are increasing more rapidly than those of sheep (Zwarts, Bijlsma & van der Kamp, 2023a). Many reasons, including economic, social, and cultural reasons, contribute to these changes. However, the underlying causes may be ecological. Browsers are preferred owing to their ability to tolerate drought and feed scarcity, and to produce meat and milk in all seasons. Goats can forage further from watering points than sheep and cattle (Akinmoladun et al., 2019), and as they are browsers, their food is available throughout the year. They are thus better suited to situations where environmental constraints cause herders to adopt a less-mobile lifestyle. The shift to increasing reliance on browsers is seen as a way to sustain meat and milk production and reduce greenhouse gas emissions in African drylands (Rahimi et al., 2022). However, while greater reliance on browsers may bring immediate advantages, it may also result in greater pressure on forbs (relative to grasses) but especially greater pressure on trees, particularly in the dry season, when lopped-off branches represent an essential source of forage. This increased pressure will have negative impacts on trees (Dendoncker et al., 2024), on the diversity and abundance of floral resources they provide for flower-visiting insects, and on the multiple functions they provide in addition to provision of forage.

### (c) How can the timing of grazing be managed to minimise impacts on plant sexual reproduction and on animals dependent on flowers and seeds?

The impact of grazing varies depending on the phenophase of the plant. Grazing before plants have flowered has strong negative effects on floral resources (and later, on soil seed banks). Impact of grazing on pollinators can be mitigated by temporarily excluding livestock from particular subplots

17

during the flowering season (e.g. Farruggia et al., 2012). In the Ferlo, this practice would also serve to create a reserve of dryseason forage, thus providing both biodiversity benefits and a provisioning service for humans. In the Koyli Alpha Community Nature Reserve (ca. 643 ha) in the Ferlo, livestock are excluded, but in the dry season, long after plants have flowered and dispersed seeds, herders are allowed to harvest herbaceous biomass (necromass, as almost all grasses and forbs are annuals). Increasing the number of such areas thus could benefit both herders and biodiversity. Measures proposed to manage the timing of grazing are likely to be more socially and economically acceptable than measures proposing reductions in stocking rate (Enri et al., 2017). Management of timing of grazing must be adaptable, sensitive to spatial heterogeneity in plant phenology, to effects of climate change on the phenology of plants and of flower-visiting insects, and to the fact that grazers can themselves alter plant phenology (Tadey, 2020).

#### (d) How can piosphere effects be managed?

Rainy season (3 months maximum)

Because livestock must drink frequently, in semi-arid regions their activities tend to be concentrated around watering points. This leads to a pattern of increasing grazing intensity with increasing proximity to watering points (and nearby camps), termed the piosphere gradient (Andrew, 1988). In consequence, areas near watering points have decreased plant biomass, altered species composition, and decreased plant diversity (Thrash & Derry, 1999). With the increasing density of boreholes in the Ferlo, the proportion of all rangeland that is close to a watering point, and thus subjected to intense grazing, increases, leading to increased rangeland degradation. However, this classical piosphere pattern is accompanied by an opposite gradient: organic matter-rich livestock excrement is also more concentrated in proximity to watering points. In some cases, this can lead to an inverse grazing gradient where plant production is greater in proximity to wells and camps (Rasmussen *et al.*, 2018). Could such positive piosphere effects be harnessed to alleviate negative piosphere effects on rangeland quality (Rasmussen *et al.*, 2018), to benefit both herders and biodiversity? Figure 1 provides a summary of factors affecting insect–flower interactions in the northern Sahel.

#### (3) Pollinators for crop plants?

Crop plants are not as important to subsistence in the northern Sahel as in the agrosilvopastoral lands further south. However, with the trend to increasingly sedentary lifestyles, they are increasing in importance. Drip-irrigated home gardens are becoming more common (Duboz *et al.*, 2019). As home gardens and small agricultural fields around settlements become larger and more numerous, pollination of vegetables and fruit trees will represent an increasingly important ecosystem service. Vegetable species show great

Dry season (the rest of the year)

 And Andrewski, Andrewski, Andrewski, Andrewski, Andrewsk, Andrews

Cattle, goats and sheep

Primarily goats and sheep

**Fig. 1.** Factors affecting insect-flower interactions in the northern Sahel. These semi-arid savannas are characterised by extreme seasonality, high inter-annual variation in rainfall and intense grazing by livestock. Herbaceous vegetation is dominated by grasses (wind-pollinated). Flowering of forbs (mostly insect-pollinated) is restricted to the short rainy season, while trees flower year-round and are key for insect persistence. Cattle remain in the area until dry-season forage reserves are depleted. Browsers (particularly goats) predominate in the dry season and are increasingly favoured by herders over grazers due to climate change. The increased pressure they place on trees may weaken networks of biotic interactions such as pollination. Image credits: right, D. McKey; left, N. Medina-Serrano.

Biological Reviews (2024) 000-000 © 2024 The Author(s). Biological Reviews published by John Wiley & Sons Ltd on behalf of Cambridge Philosophical Society.

variation in their dependence on pollinators; for most fruit trees, and for cucurbits such as watermelon, insect pollinators are essential (Klein *et al.*, 2007; Siopa *et al.*, 2023a,b). In arid northern Tanzania, Sawe *et al.* (2020) found pollination to be limiting for watermelon yields. Whether native insect communities of the northern Sahel can provide adequate pollination services for plants in home gardens is unknown. Also, the increasing adoption of home gardening may be accompanied by more frequent recourse to the use of pesticides, herbicides, and other phytosanitary products. Vigilance will be required in communicating about their benefits and their ecological and health risks (De Bon *et al.*, 2014).

#### (4) What are the goals of conservation actions?

#### (a) What is the baseline?

An overarching research priority in the northern Sahel is to determine what conditions conservation actions should attempt to maintain or restore. An ongoing study is revealing a surprising diversity of flower-visiting insects in the Ferlo (N. Medina-Serrano, in preparation). How the current diversity and abundance of flower-visiting insects and the resources they depend on compare to what was present before the changes in climate and land use that began in the 1950s and 1960s will likely never be known. Furthermore, human impacts on plant communities in the Sahel began long before then, with the dawn of pastoralism and then later the wholesale replacement of wild megafauna in the region by livestock. The Sahelian flora is well-known, but some species have become more common and others less common over the last 70 years. In addition, as shown in Table S1, several forb species were introduced and became naturalised in West Africa during precolonial or colonial times (Borokini et al., 2023). Introduced plants can have diverse effects on networks of flowers and insect visitors, from negative (Morales & Traveset, 2009) to positive (Stouffer, Cirtwill & Bascompte, 2014). Their effects on these networks in the Sahel have not been studied.

Reference ecosystems with "near-natural" biodiversity and functioning are lacking in the northern Sahel. Sahelian countries are among the most highly underfunded for biodiversity conservation (Brito et al., 2016). More effectively protected areas could serve as invaluable reference systems for gauging the impact of continued land-use change and climate change on biodiversity and biotic interactions. Rewilding through re-introduction of native wild herbivores could locally restore natural dynamics of these savannas, and modest initiatives have been undertaken in a few small reserves (e.g. Abáigar et al., 2016). In most areas of the northern Sahel, however, the prime objective of restoration will be to maintain biodiversity and ecosystem functioning as effectively as possible in ecosystems dominated by interactions between plants and livestock. In view of the transformation of Sahelian ecosystems by humans and their livestock, defining the "baseline" conditions that actions should aim to

maintain or restore will require a balance between conservation value and realism.

"Baseline" conditions include an inventory of the region's biodiversity. Species interact, and an accurate inventory of species is essential for understanding interactions. The first step for this region with poorly described fauna is to establish a complete reference base through studies of morphological taxonomy, integrating genetic markers where necessary and possible. Numerous insect species in the region are likely undescribed, and those that have been described may hide cryptic species with different biology. Barcoding of selected insect taxa might greatly add to our knowledge of insect diversity in the region.

### (b) Choice of indicator taxa: new strategies for monitoring insect-flower interactions?

What indicator taxa are most suitable for monitoring the effects of climate change, land-use change and conservation actions? For plants, trees appear to be key floral resources ensuring resilience of pollinator networks, but which species may be the most informative indicators of ecosystem health remains unclear. Pertinent insect indicator taxa might include solitary bees, which depend wholly on floral resources for their food. Aculeate wasps and hymenopteran parasitoids, two groups that feed at high trophic levels, should also be good indicators of ecosystem health. However, these groups, particularly the latter, are difficult to identify. Butterflies, less diverse and easier to identify, have been widely adopted as indicator species, but this also has drawbacks (Segre et al., 2023). Food is not the only resource upon which flower-visiting insects depend, with some species having specialised nest-site requirements. For example, some Xylocopa spp. nest only in dead stems of a few plant species (Eardley et al., 2009), and grazing and trampling can destroy potential nest sites.

While choosing indicator taxa is a thorny problem, this difficulty is negligible compared to the next step: developing programs to monitor biodiversity by visual identification of these indicator taxa. Even programs that rely on citizen science and unpaid volunteers are costly in time and money, requiring financial and institutional resources that are unlikely to be available in the northern Sahel. One avenue worth considering in regions like the Sahel might be metabarcoding of environmental DNA, using flowers as a substrate. Environmental DNA on flowers can reveal the diversity of insects that visited them, and even the other plants previously visited by these insects (Newton et al., 2023). Monitoring in this way would also not rely on one or a few taxa that may not reflect general patterns. However, this method has not been extensively tested, and its usefulness will depend on the existence of a reference base of the region's biodiversity of flower-visiting insects.

#### (c) Promoting diverse communities and genetically diverse populations

How can we promote diverse communities of pollinators and flower visitors, and genetically diverse plant

populations, at the landscape scale? Actions focused on restoring plant diversity also result in restoration of pollinator diversity (Kaiser-Bunbury et al., 2017; Sexton & Emory, 2020), but the effectiveness of this "plant-first" approach in grassland restoration varies among pollinator taxa and restoration methods. Restoration ecologists need to devote more attention to all the ecological needs of pollinators, not only floral resources, and to shaping landscapes that allow pollinators to move between habitat patches, ensuring pollen transfer and gene flow between local populations (Menz et al., 2011). Connectedness between habitat patches may be particularly crucial in arid environments characterised by episodic and spatially highly variable flowering. Encouraging habitat heterogeneity, for example through diverse grazing regimes, will be a key component of any conservation strategy, not only for plants and flower-visiting insects, but for all components of biodiversity. A clear priority in the Ferlo is the conservation of vegetation in the scattered natural depressions that characterise the area. These humid patches harbour greater biodiversity, for example that of trees (Dendoncker et al., 2023), than other habitats in the Ferlo, and constitute refugia for numerous plant and animal species in the face of climate change (Dendoncker et al., 2020).

#### VI. CONCLUSIONS

(1) Conducting long-term studies of biotic interactions will be crucial for understanding the dynamics of northern Sahelian ecosystems, which are highly impacted by global changes. Selecting suitable indicators for monitoring interactions and ecosystem health can help assess the impacts of climate change and land-use changes on biodiversity. Trees play a key role in the resilience of insect—flower interactions in this region, due to their year-round flowering and diverse insect visitors. Accurate identification of insect species through morphological and genetic studies will be essential for understanding insect diversity and the ecological roles of component species.

(2) Under high seasonal and inter-annual climatic variability, understanding flowering phenology and its effects on assemblages of flower-visiting insects is important for identifying periods of fragility in the ecosystem. Climate change can lead to phenological mismatch between plants and pollinators, disrupting pollination networks.

(3) Nocturnal flower-visiting insects in the Sahel remain completely understudied, but could provide important insights into overall pollination dynamics and thermal adaptations of insects.

(4) Studies are needed to assess the impact of livestock grazing and browsing on insect–flower interactions in the northern Sahel. Ongoing shifts in livestock composition, particularly the increase in prevalence of goats (browsers), might exert increasing pressure on trees.

(5) The increasing use of home gardens in the region highlights the need for sustainable practices that ensure adequate pollination services and minimise pesticide use.

(6) Determining baseline conditions for conservation efforts is challenging but necessary for setting realistic goals that balance biodiversity conservation with human land use.

#### VII. ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This work was supported by LabEx DRIIHM (InterDisciplinary Research Facility on Human-Environment Interactions), which is funded by the French government programme "Investissements d'Avenir" through the ANR, the French national research agency (ANR-II-LABX-0010). We thank the authorities of DRIIHM and of the Observatoire Hommes-Milieux International (OHMi) Téssékéré, a member of the DRIIHM network. We also thank the IRL 3189 (International Research Laboratory of the CNRS, "Environnement, Santé, Sociétés"), the Institut Fondamental d'Afrique Noire (IFAN), the Département de Biologie Végétale of the Université Cheikh Anta Diop (UCAD) and their staff for their welcome and for organising fieldwork. N.M.-S. was supported by a doctoral dissertation grant from a project funded by Fondation TotalEnergies and administered by the OHMi Téssékéré, and by additional funding from CNRS Ecology & Environment. The Service de Coopération et d'Action Culturelle (SCAC) of the French Embassy in Senegal funded study visits by A.D. to the CEFE. We thank the local populations of the Ferlo, on whose land we conducted fieldwork, and the Senegalese agency responsible for land management in the region, the ASERGMV (Agence Sénégalaise de la Reforestation et de la Grande Muraille Verte). N.M.-S. thanks her dissertation supervisor, Dr Anne-Geneviève Bagnères-Urbany, for advice and encouragement during this study.

#### VIII. REFERENCES

- References identified with an asterisk (\*) are cited only within the online Supporting Information.
- ABÁIGAR, T., CANO, M., DJIGO, C. A. T., GOMIS, J., SARR, T., YOUM, B., FERNÁNDEZ-BELLON, H. & ENSENYAT, C. (2016). Social organization and demography of reintroduced Dorcas gazelle (*Gazella dorcas neglecta*) in North Ferlo Fauna Reserve, Senegal. *Mammalia* 80(6), 593–600.
- \*ABDOU HABOU, K. M. (2022). Impacts d'Occupation des Terres Sur la Structure Démographique des Peuplements à Balanites Aegyptiaca (L.) Del. au Centre-Est du Niger. Ph.D. Dissertation: Université de Diffa.
- ABRAHAMCZYK, S., STRUCK, J. H. & WEIGEND, M. (2023). The best of two worlds: ecology and evolution of ambophilous plants. *Biological Reviews* 98(2), 391–420.
- \*ADGABA, N., ALGHAMDI, A., SAMMOUD, R., SHENKUTE, A., TADESSE, Y., ANSARI, M. J., SHARMA, D. & HEPBURN, C. (2017). Determining spatio-temporal distribution of bee forage species of Al-Baha region based on ground inventorying supported with GIS applications and remote sensed satellite image analysis. *Saudi Journal of Biological Sciences* 24(5), 1038–1044.
- AGUILAR, R., MARTÉN RODRÍGUEZ, S., AVILA SAKAR, G., ASHWORTH, L., LOPEZARAIZA MIKEL, M. & QUESADA, M. (2015). A global review of pollination syndromes: a response to Ollerton et al. *Journal of Pollination Ecology* **17**(18), 126–128.
- AKINMOLADUN, O. F., MUCHENJE, V., FON, F. N. & MPENDULO, C. T. (2019). Small ruminants: Farmers' hope in a world threatened by water scarcity. *Animals* 9(7), 456.
- ALEXANDER, B. A. & MICHENER, C. D. (1995). Phylogenetic studies of the families of short-tongued bees (Hymenoptera: Apoidea). University of Kansas Science Bulletin 55(11), 377–424.

- ALTSHULER, D. L. (1999). Novel interactions of non-pollinating ants with pollinators and fruit consumers in a tropical forest. *Oecologia* 119, 600–606.
- AMBROZOVÁ, L., SLÁDEČEK, F. X. J., ZÍTEK, T., PERLÍK, M., KOZEL, P., JIRKŮ, M. & CÍZEK, L. (2021). Lasting decrease in functionality and richness: effects of ivermectin use on dung beetle communities. *Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment* **321**, 107634.
- AMORIM, M. D., MARUYAMA, P. K., BARONIO, G. J., AZEVEDO, C. S. & RECH, A. R. (2022). Hummingbird contribution to plant reproduction in the rupestrian grasslands is not defined by pollination syndrome. *Oecologia* 199, 1–12.
- ANDREW, M. H. (1988). Grazing impact in relation to livestock watering points. Trends in Ecology & Evolution 3(12), 336–339.
- \*ANGMV (2019). Plan Stratégique de Développement de l'Agence Nationale de la Grande Muraille Verte 2019–2023. Ministère de l'Environnement et du Développement Durable du Sénégal.
- ANTOINE, C. M. & FORREST, J. R. (2021). Nesting habitat of ground-nesting bees: a review. *Ecological Entomology* 46(2), 143–159.
- \*ARBONNIER, M. (2000). Arbres, Arbustes et Lianes des Zones Sèches d'Afrique de l'Ouest. Editions Quae, Paris.
- ARCHER, C. R., PIRK, C. W. W., CARVALHEIRO, L. G. & NICOLSON, S. W. (2014). Economic and ecological implications of geographic bias in pollinator ecology in the light of pollinator declines. *Oikos* 123(4), 401–407.
- AXMACHER, J. C., BREHM, G., HEMP, A., TÜNTE, H., LYARUU, H. V., MÜLLER-HOHENSTEIN, K. & FIEDLER, K. (2009). Determinants of diversity in Afrotropical herbivorous insects (Lepidoptera: Geometridae): plant diversity, vegetation structure or abiotic factors? *Journal of Biogeography* 36(2), 337–349.
- AYGÖREN ULUER, D., FOREST, F., ARMBRUSTER, S. & HAWKINS, J. A. (2022). Reconstructing an historical pollination syndrome: keel flowers. BMC Ecology and Evolution 22(1), 45.
- \*BAHADUR, B., SAILU, B. & RAMA SWAMY, N. (1996). Pollen flow in heterostylous Waltheria indica L. Journal of Palynology 32, 13–19.
- \*BALDOCK, K. C. R., MEMMOTT, J., RUIZ-GUAJARDO, J. C., ROZE, D. & STONE, G. N. (2011). Daily temporal structure in African savanna flower visitation networks and consequences for network sampling. *Ecology* **92**(3), 687–698.
- BALLESTEROS-MEJIA, L., KITCHING, I. J., JETZ, W., NAGEL, P. & BECK, J. (2013). Mapping the biodiversity of tropical insects: species richness and inventory completeness of African sphingid moths. *Global Ecology and Biogeography* 22(5), 586–595.
- BANDA, A., MADAMBA, D. C., GUMBO, T. & CHANYANDURA, A. (2020). Climate change extent and dipteran pollinators diversity in Africa. In *Handbook of Climate Change Management: Research, Leadership, Transformation* (eds W. LEAL FILHO, J. LUETZ and D. AYAL), pp. 1–20. Springer Nature, Switzerland.
- BARTOMEUS, I., PARK, M. G., GIBBS, J., DANFORTH, B. N., LAKSO, A. N. & WINFREE, R. (2013). Biodiversity ensures plant–pollinator phenological synchrony against climate change. *Ecology Letters* 16(11), 1331–1338.
- \*BASAK, S. L. & GUPTA, S. (1972). Quantitative studies on the mating system of jute (Corchorus olitorius L.). Theoretical and Applied Genetics 42, 319–324.
- BASCOMPTE, J., JORDANO, P., MELIAN, C. J. & OLESEN, J. M. (2003). The nested assembly of plant-animal mutualistic networks. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the USA* 100, 9383–9387.
- BASCOMPTE, J. & SCHEFFER, M. (2023). The resilience of plant-pollinator networks. Annual Review of Entomology 68, 363–380.
- \*BASSIMBÉ SAGNA, M., SÈNE NIANG, K., GUISSÉ, A. & GOFFNER, D. (2014). Balanites aegyptiaca (L.) Delile: geographical distribution and ethnobotanical knowledge by local populations in the Ferlo (north Senegal). Biotechnology, Agronomy, Society and Environment 18(4), 503–511.
- BENOIT, J. B., MCCLUNEY, K. E., DEGENNARO, M. J. & DOW, J. A. (2023). Dehydration dynamics in terrestrial arthropods: from water sensing to trophic interactions. *Annual Review of Entomology* 68, 29–149.
- BERGERET, A. & RIBOT, J. C. (1990). L'Arbre Nourricier en Pays Sahélien. Editions de la Maison des Sciences de l'Homme, Paris.
- BERNARDELLO, G. (2007). A systematic survey of floral nectaries. In Nectaries and Nectar (eds S. W. NICOLSON, M. NEPI and E. PACINI), pp. 19–128. Springer, Netherlands, Dordrecht.
- BIGGS, C. R., YEAGER, L. A., BOLSER, D. G., BONSELL, C., DICHIERA, A. M., HOU, Z., KEYSER, S. R., KHURSIGARA, A. J., LU, K., MUTH, A. F. & NEGRETE, B. JR. (2020). Does functional redundancy affect ecological stability and resilience? A review and meta-analysis. *Ecosphere* 11(7), e03184.
- BILLE, J. C. & POUPON, H. (1972). Recherches écologiques sur une savane sahélienne du Ferlo septentrional, Sénégal: description de la végétation. *Revue d'Ecologie, Terre et Vie* 3, 351–365.
- BOGDAN, A. V. (1962). Grass pollination by bees in Kenya. Proceedings of the Linnean Society of London 173(1), 57–60.
- BOROKINI, I. T., KORTZ, A., ANIBABA, Q. A., WITT, A., AIGBOKHAN, E. I., HEJDA, M. & PYŠEK, P. (2023). Alien flora of Nigeria: taxonomy, biogeography, habitats, and ecological impacts. *Biological Invasions* 25(12), 3677–3696.
- BRANDT, M., TAPPAN, G., DIOUF, A. A., BEYE, G., MBOW, C. & FENSHOLT, R. (2017). Woody vegetation die off and regeneration in response to rainfall variability in the West African Sahel. *Remote Sensing* 9, 39.

- BREMAN, H. & DE RIDDER, N. (1991). Manuel Sur les Pâturages des Pays Sahéliens. Karthala Editions, Paris.
- BRIGGS, J. C. (2016). Global biodiversity loss: exaggerated versus realistic estimates. Environmental Skeptics and Critics 5(2), 20.
- BRITO, J. C., TARROSO, P., VALE, C. G., MARTÍNEZ-FREIRÍA, F., BORATYŃSKI, Z., CAMPOS, J. C., FERREIRA, S., GODINHO, R., LEITE, J. V., SILVA, T. L. & PLEGUEZUELOS, J. M. (2016). Conservation biogeography of the Sahara-Sahel: additional protected areas are needed to secure unique biodiversity. *Diversity and Distributions* 22(4), 371–384.
- BROCK, R. E., CINI, A. & SUMNER, S. (2021). Ecosystem services provided by aculeate wasps. *Biological Reviews* 96(4), 1645–1675.
- \*BRUYNS, P. V., HANÁČEK, P. & KLAK, C. (2023). A new concept of Leptadenia (Apocynaceae). Taxon 72(1), 126–150.
- BUISSON, E., ALVARADO, S. T., LE STRADIC, S. & MORELLATO, L. P. C. (2017). Plant phenological research enhances ecological restoration. *Restoration Ecology* 25(2), 164–171.
- \*CARDIEL, J. M. & MONTERO MUNOZ, I. (2018). Synopsis of Acalypha (Euphorbiaceae) of West Tropical Africa, including Cameroon, Chad, Equatorial Guinea, Gabon, and São Tomé and Príncipe. Plant Systematics and Evolution 304, 93–110.
- CARPENTER, J. M. (2001). Checklist of species of the subfamily Masarinae (Hymenoptera: Vespidae). American Museum Novitates 2001(3325), 1–40.
- \*CARTER, R., JONES, J. C. & GODDARD, R. H. (2014). Sphenoclea zeylanica (Sphenocleaceae) in North America—dispersal, ecology, and morphology. Castanea 79(1), 33–50.
- \*CHARTIER, M., GIBERNAU, M. & RENNER, S. S. (2014). The evolution of pollinatorplant interaction types in the Araceae. *Evolution* 68(5), 1533–1543.
- \*CHETTY, A., GLENNON, K. L., VENTER, S. M., CRON, G. V. & WITKOWSKI, E. T. F. (2021). Reproductive ecology of the African baobab: floral features differ among individuals with different fruit production. *Forest Ecology and Management* 489, 119077.
- CISSÉ, S., EYMARD, L., OTTLÉ, C., NDIONE, J., GAYE, A. & PINSARD, F. (2016). Rainfall intra-seasonal variability and vegetation growth in the Ferlo Basin (Senegal). *Remote Sensing* **8**(1), 66.
- COOK, D. F., VOSS, S. C., FINCH, J. T., RADER, R. C., COOK, J. M. & SPURR, C. J. (2020). The role of flies as pollinators of horticultural crops: an Australian case study with worldwide relevance. *Insects* **11**(6), 341.
- COSSON, J.-F., TRANIER, M. & COLAS, F. (1996). On the occurrence and possible migratory behavior of the fruit bat *Eidolon helvum* in Mauritania, West Africa. *Journal of African Zoology* **110**, 369–371.
- COULIBALY, D., TUO, Y., KONÉ, M., BALIMA, L. H., KONATÉ, S., LINSENMAIR, K. E., POREMBSKI, S., GOETZE, D. & STEIN, K. (2020). Savanna woody plants and their provision of food resources to bees in southern Burkina Faso, West Africa. *Journal of Forest and Landscape Research* 5, 14–23.
- CRESSWELL, W. R., WILSON, J. M., VICKERY, J., JONES, P. & HOLT, S. (2007). Changes in densities of Sahelian bird species in response to recent habitat degradation. Ostrich-Journal of African Ornithology 78(2), 247–253.
- \*CRONK, Q. & BORGES, L. M. (2024). Sexual system variation in legumes (Leguminosae): underpinning genomic study with new tools to describe inflorescence morphology. *Brazilian Journal of Botany* 1–14. https://doi.org/10. 1007/s40415-024-01031-w.
- CRUAUD, A., RASPLUS, J.-Y., ZHANG, J., BURKS, R., DELVARE, G., FUSU, L., GUMOVSKY, A., HUBER, J. T., JANŠTA, P., MITROIU, M.-D., NOYES, J. S., VAN NOORT, S., BAKER, A., BÖHMOVÁ, J., BAUR, H., *ET AL.* (2024). The Chalcidoidea bush of life: evolutionary history of a massive radiation of minute wasps. *Cladistics* 40(1), 34–63.
- DANFORTH, B. N., EARDLEY, C., PACKER, L., WALKER, K., PAULY, A. & RANDRIANAMBININTSOA, F. J. (2008). Phylogeny of Halictidae with an emphasis on endemic African Halictinae. *Apidologie* 39(1), 86–101.
- DANFORTH, B. N., MINCKLEY, R. L. & NEFF, J. L. (2019). The Solitary Bees: Biology, Evolution, Conservation. Princeton University Press, Princeton.
- DAO, Z. A., ROMBA, R., JALOUX, B., HARAN, J., OUEDRAOGO, A. & GNANKINE, O. (2023). Pollination syndrome of the African custard apple (*Annona senegalensis* Pers.) reveals reliance on specialized brood-site weevil pollinators in Annonaceae. *International Journal of Tropical Insect Science* 43, 1411–1419.
- DAVIS, A. E., BICKEL, D. J., SAUNDERS, M. E. & RADER, R. (2023). Crop-pollinating Diptera have diverse diets and habitat needs in both larval and adult stages. *Ecological Applications* 33(5), e2859.
- DE BON, H., HUAT, J., PARROT, L., SINZOGAN, A., MARTIN, T., MALEZIEUX, E. & VAYSSIERES, J. F. (2014). Pesticide risks from fruit and vegetable pest management by small farmers in sub-Saharan Africa. A review. Agronomy for Sustainable Development 34, 723–736.
- \*DE KOCK, C., MINNAAR, C., LUNAU, K., WESTER, P., VERHOEVEN, C., SCHULZE, M. J., RANDLE, M. R., ROBSON, C., BOLUS, R. H. & ANDERSON, B. (2018). The functional role of the keel crest in *Polygala myrtifolia* (Polygalaceae) and its effects on pollinator visitation success. *South African Journal of Botany* 118, 105–111.
- DE LUCA, P. A. & VALLEJO-MARÍN, M. (2013). What's the 'buzz' about? The ecology and evolutionary significance of buzz-pollination. *Current Opinion in Plant Biology* 16(4), 429–435.

license

- \*DE LUCCHIO, L. M., FENSHOLT, R., MARKUSSEN, B. & R&BILD, A. (2018). Leaf phenology of thirteen African origins of baobab (*Adansonia digitata* (L.)) as influenced by daylength and water availability. *Ecology and Evolution* 8(22), 11261–11272.
- DE MANINCOR, N., HAUTEKEETE, N., PIQUOT, Y., SCHATZ, B., VANAPPELCHEM, C. & MASSOL, F. (2020). Does phenology explain plant– pollinator interactions at different latitudes? An assessment of its explanatory power in plant–hoverfly networks in French calcareous grasslands. *Oikos* 129(5), 753–765.
- DE VEGA, C. & GÓMEZ, J. M. (2014). Pollination by ants: concepts, evidences and future directions. *Ecosistemas: Revista Cietifica y Tecnica de Ecologia y Medio Ambiente* **23**(3), 48–57.
- DELABYE, S., STORCH, D., SEDLÁČEK, O., ALBRECHT, T., HOŘÁK, D., MAICHER, V., TÓSZÖGYOVÁ, A. & TROPEK, R. (2022). Moth diversity increases along a continentwide gradient of environmental productivity in South African savannahs. *Insects* 13(9), 778.
- DELAY, E., KA, A., NIANG, K., TOURÉ, I. & GOFFNER, D. (2022). Coming back to a commons approach to construct the Great Green Wall in Senegal. *Land Use Policy* 115, 106000.
- DENDONCKER, M., BRANDT, M., RASMUSSEN, K., TAUGOURDEAU, S., FENSHOLT, R., TUCKER, C. J. & VINCKE, C. (2020). 50 years of woody vegetation changes in the Ferlo (Senegal) assessed by high-resolution imagery and field surveys. *Regional Environmental Change* 20(4), 137.
- DENDONCKER, M. & VINCKE, C. (2020). Low topographic positions enhance woody vegetation stability in the Ferlo (Senegalese Sahel). *Journal of Arid Environments* 175, 104087.
- DENDONCKER, M., VINCKE, C., BAZAN, S., MADINGOU, M. P. N. & TAUGOURDEAU, S. (2023). The size of topographic depressions in a Sahelian savanna is a driver of woody vegetation diversity. *Journal of Arid Environments* 210, 104923.
- DENDONCKER, M., VINCKE, C., NDIANOR, R., DIOUF, A. A., MIEHE, S., NGOM, D. & TAUGOURDEAU, S. (2024). Sahelian woody communities are endangered by regeneration impoverishment in three land management types. *Nav Forests* 55, 1399–1423. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11056-024-10041-1.
- DENLINGER, D. L. (2023). Insect diapause: from a rich history to an exciting future. Journal of Experimental Biology 226(4), jeb245329.
- \*DESAI, N., KAWALKAR, H. & DIXIT, G. (2012). Biosystematics and evolutionary studies in Indian Drimia species. Journal of Systematics and Evolution 50(6), 512–518.
- DEVOTO, M., MEDAN, D. & MONTALDO, N. H. (2005). Patterns of interaction between plants and pollinators along an environmental gradient. *Oikos* 109(3), 46–472.
- \*DIALLO, B. O., MCKEY, D., CHEVALLIER, M., JOLY, H. I. & HOSSAERT-MCKEY, M. (2008). Breeding system and pollination biology of the semidomesticated fruit tree, *Tamarindus indica* L. (Leguminosae: Caesalpinioideae): implications for fruit production, selective breeding, and conservation of genetic resources. *African Journal of Biotechnology* 7(22), 4068–4075.
- \*DIALLO, I., SAMB, P. I., GAYE, A., SAIL, P. N., DUHOUX, E. & TIDIANE, A. (1997). Biologie florale et pollinisation chez Acacia Senegal (L.) Willd. Acta Botanica Gallica 144(1), 73–82.
- \*DIATTA, K., DIATTA, W., FALL, A. D., DIENG, S. I. M., MBAYE, A. I., SARR, A. & BADIANE, N. B. (2019). Ethno apicultural survey of melliferous plants species in the Tambacounda District, Senegal. Asian Journal of Research in Botany 2(2), 206–215.
- DIATTA, O., KJÆR, E. D., DIALLO, A. M., NIELSEN, L. R., NOVAK, V., SANOGO, D., LAURSEN, K. H., HANSEN, J. K. & RæBILD, A. (2022). Leaf morphology and stable isotope ratios of carbon and nitrogen in *Acacia senegal* (L.) Willd. Trees vary with climate at the geographic origin and ploidy level. *Trees* 36, 295–312.
- DIATTA, O., NGOM, D., NDIAYE, O., DIATTA, S. & TAUGOURDEAU, S. (2023). Structure and phenology of herbaceous stratum in the Sahelian rangelands of Senegal. *Grasses* 2(2), 98–111.
- DIOP, A., DIOP, N. & NDIAYE, P. I. (2024). Bird diversity in a Sahelian ecosystem under restoration: a study in the great Grenn wall extension area of Senegal. *Ecological Frontiers* 44(1), 42–53.
- DJOSSA, B. A., TONI, H. C., ADEKANMBI, I. D., TOGNON, F. K. & SINSIN, B. A. (2015). Do flying foxes limit flower abortion in African baobab (*Adansonia digitata*)? Case study in Benin, West Africa. *Fruits* **70**(5), 281–287.
- Do, F. C., ROCHETEAU, A., DIAGNE, A. L., GOUDIABY, V., GRANIER, A. & LHOMME, J. P. (2008). Stable annual pattern of water use by *Acacia tortilis* in Sahelian Africa. *Tree Physiology* 28(1), 95–104.
- DOYLE, T., HAWKES, W. L. S., MASSY, R., POWNEY, G. D., MENZ, M. H. M. & WOTTON, K. R. (2020). Pollination by hoverflies in the Anthropocene. *Proceedings of* the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences 287(1927), 20200508.
- DUBOZ, P., BOËTSCH, G., GUISSÉ, A., GOFFNER, D., PEIRY, J. L., SARR, P. & MACIA, E. (2019). Reforestation and the state of health of populations in Tessekere, Senegal. *Regional Environmental Change* 19, 1643–1651.
- DURANT, S. M., PETTORELLI, N., BASHIR, S., WOODROFFE, R., WACHER, T., DE ORNELLAS, P., RANSOM, C., ABÁIGAR, T., ABDELGADIR, M., ALQAMY, H. E., BEDDIAF, M., BELBACHIR, F., BELBACHIR-BAZI, A., BERBASH, A. A.,

BEUDELS-JAMAR, R., ET AL. (2012). Forgotten biodiversity in desert ecosystems. Science 336(6087), 1379–1380.

- DZEKASHU, F. F., PIRK, C. W., YUSUF, A. A., CLASSEN, A., KIATOKO, N., STEFFAN-DEWENTER, I., PETERS, M. K. & LATTORFF, H. M. G. (2023). Seasonal and elevational changes of plant-pollinator interaction networks in East African mountains. *Ecology and Evolution* 13(5), e10060.
- EARDLEY, C., KUHLMANN, M. & PAULY, A. (2010). The bee genera and subgenera of sub-Saharan Africa. ABC Taxa 7, 1–139.
- \*EARDLEY, C. D. (2003). Revision of the Afrotropical Ctenoplectrini (Hymenoptera: Apidae). African Plant Protection 9(1), 5–18.
- EARDLEY, C. D., GIKUNGU, M. & SCHWARZ, M. P. (2009). Bee conservation in sub-Saharan Africa and Madagascar: diversity, status and threats. *Apidologie* **40**(3), 355–366.
- \*EISIKOWITCH, D. (1986). Morpho-ecological aspects on the pollination of Calotropis procera (Asclepiadaceae) in Israel. Plant Systematics and Evolution 152(3), 185–194.
- ENCINAS-VISO, F., REVILLA, T. A. & ETIENNE, R. S. (2012). Phenology drives mutualistic network structure and diversity. *Ecology Letters* 15(3), 198–208.
- ENRI, S. R., PROBO, M., FARRUGGIA, A., LANORE, L., BLANCHETETE, A. & DUMONT, B. (2017). A biodiversity-friendly rotational grazing system enhancing flower-visiting insect assemblages while maintaining animal and grassland productivity. Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment 241, 1–10.
- ERENLER, H. E., GILLMAN, M. P. & OLLERTON, J. (2020). Impact of extreme events on pollinator assemblages. *Current Opinion in Insect Science* 38, 34–39.
- EVENHUIS, N. L. & LAMAS, C. E. (2017). Bombyliidae (bee flies). In Manual of Afrotropical Diptera. 2. Nematocerous Diptera and lower Brachycera (eds A. H. KIRK-SPRIGGS and B. J. SINCLAIR), pp. 1019–1055. Suricata 5. South Africa National Biodiversity Institute, Pretoria.
- FADEN, R. B. (2000). Floral biology of Commelinaceae. In Monocots: Systematics and Evolution (eds K. L. WILSON and D. A. MORRISON), pp. 309–317. CSIRO, Melbourne.
- FARRUGGIA, A., DUMONT, B., SCOHIER, A., LEROY, T., PRADEL, P. & GAREL, J.-P. (2012). An alternative rotational stocking management designed to favour butterflies in permanent grasslands. *Grass and Forage Science* 67(1), 136–149.
- \*FARWIG, N., RANDRIANIRINA, E. F., VOIGT, F. A., KRAEMER, M. & BÖHNING-GAESE, K. (2004). Pollination ecology of the dioecious tree *Commiphora guillauminii* in Madagascar. *Journal of Tropical Ecology* 20(3), 307–316.
- \*FIGUEROA FLEMING, T. & ETCHEVERRY, Á. V. (2017). Comparing the efficiency of pollination mechanisms in Papilionoideae. Arthropod-Plant Interactions 11, 273–283.
- FILAZZOLA, A., BROWN, C., DETTLAFF, M. A., BATBAATAR, A., GRENKE, J., BAO, T., PEETOOM HEIDA, I. & CAHILL, J. F. JR. (2020). The effects of livestock grazing on biodiversity are multi-trophic: a meta-analysis. *Ecology Letters* 23(8), 1298–1309.
- FLORIO, J., VERÚ, L. M., DAO, A., YARO, A. S., DIALLO, M., SANOGO, Z. L., SAMAKÉ, D., HUESTIS, D. L., YOSSI, O., TALAMAS, E. & CHAMORRO, M. L. (2020). Diversity, dynamics, direction, and magnitude of high-altitude migrating insects in the Sahel. *Scientific Reports* 10(1), 20523.
- \*GALETTO, L. & BERNARDELLO, G. (2004). Floral nectaries, nectar production dynamics and chemical composition in six *Ipomoea* species (Convolvulaceae) in relation to pollinators. *Annals of Botany* 94(2), 269–280.
- GBIF TAXON ID: 7150518 Ceropegia L. https://www.gbif.org/species/7150518. Retrieved 22 August 2024.
- GEBREMEDHN, H. H., NDIAYE, O., MENSAH, S., FASSINOU, C., TAUGOURDEAU, S., TAGESSON, T. & SALGADO, P. (2023). Grazing effects on vegetation dynamics in the savannah ecosystems of the Sahel. *Ecological Processes* **12**(1), 54.
- GENES, L. & DIRZO, R. (2022). Restoration of plant–animal interactions in terrestrial ecosystems. *Biological Conservation* 265, 109393.
- GÉRARD, M., VANDERPLANCK, M., WOOD, T. & MICHEZ, D. (2020). Global warming and plant–pollinator mismatches. *Emerging Topics in Life Sciences* 4(1), 77–86.
- GESS, S. K. (1992). Biogeography of the masarine wasps (Hymenoptera: Vespidae: Masarinae), with particular emphasis on the southern African taxa and on correlations between masarine and forage plant distributions. *Journal of Biogeography* 19(5), 491–503.
- GESS, S. K. & GESS, F. W. (2004). Distributions of flower associations of pollen wasps (Vespidae: Masarinae) in southern Africa. *Journal of Arid Environments* 57, 17–44.
- \*GIKUNGU, M. W. (2006). Bee diversity and some aspects of their ecological interactions with plants in a successional tropical community. Doctoral Dissertation: University of Bonn.
- \*GRANT, V. (1950). The protection of the ovules in flowering plants. Evolution 4(3), 179–201.
- GRANT, V. & GRANT, K. A. (1983). Behavior of hawkmoths on flowers of Datura meteloides. Botanical Gazette 144(2), 280–284.
- \*GRAYUM, M. H. (1990). Evolution and phylogeny of the Araceae. Annals of the Missouri Botanical Garden 77, 628–697.
- GROENINCKX, I., OCHOTERENA, H., SMETS, E. & DESSEIN, S. (2010). Molecular phylogenetic and morphological study of *Kohautia* (Spermacoceae, Rubiaceae), with the recognition of the new genus *Cordylostigma*. *Taxon* **59**(5), 1457–1471.
- GUISSÉ, A., BADGI, E. S., KÉBÉ, I. M., SAGNA, M. B. & DIALLO, A. (2023). Répertoire des Herbacées de la Grande Muraille Verte (Sahel Sénégalais). Fiches Pratiques de

l'Observatoire Hommes-Milieux International Tessékéré. Série A (Ecologie Végétale), Numéro 4.

- GUY, T. J., HUTCHINSON, M. C., BALDOCK, K. C., KAYSER, E., BAISER, B., STANICZENKO, P. P., GOHEEN, J. R., PRINGLE, R. M. & PALMER, T. M. (2021). Large herbivores transform plant-pollinator networks in an African savanna. *Current Biology* 31(13), 2964–2971.
- GUZMAN, L. M., CHAMBERLAIN, S. A. & ELLE, E. (2021). Network robustness and structure depend on the phenological characteristics of plants and pollinators. *Ecology and Evolution* 11(19), 13321–13334.
- HAHN, D. A. & DENLINGER, D. L. (2011). Energetics of insect diapause. Annual Review of Entomology 56, 103–121.
- HAHN, M. & BRÜHL, C. A. (2016). The secret pollinators: an overview of moth pollination with a focus on Europe and North America. Arthropod-Plant Interactions 10, 21–28.
- \*HAMMER, T. A., ZHONG, X., COLAS DES FRANCS-SMALL, C., NEVILL, P. G., SMALL, I. D. & THIELE, K. R. (2019). Resolving intergeneric relationships in the aervoid clade and the backbone of *Ptilotus* (Amaranthaceae): evidence from whole plastid genomes and morphology. *Taxon* 68(2), 297–314.
- HARAN, J., KERGOAT, G. J. & DE MEDEIROS, B. A. S. (2023). Most diverse, most neglected: weevils (Coleoptera: Curculionoidea) are ubiquitous specialized broodsite pollinators of tropical flora. *Peer Community Journal* 3, e279.
- \*HARTMANN, H. E. K. & NIESLER, I. M. (2009). On the evolution of nectaries in Aizoaceae. Bradleya 27, 69–120.
- HASSA, P., TRAIPERM, P. & STEWART, A. B. (2023). Compatibility systems and pollinator dependency in morning glory species (Convolvulaceae). BMC Plant Biology 23(1), 432.
- \*HAYDEN, W. J. & FAGAN, C. (2016). Anatomy and pollination of cleistogamous flowers of benghal dayflower (Commelina benghalensis). Weed Science 64(3), 455–462.
- HEMPSON, G. P., ARCHIBALD, S. & BOND, W. J. (2017). The consequences of replacing wildlife with livestock in Africa. *Scientific Reports* 7(1), 10.
- HIERNAUX, P. H., CISSÉ, M. I., DIARRA, L. & DE LEEUW, P. N. (1994). Fluctuations saisonnières de la feuillaison des arbres et des buissons sahéliens. Conséquences pour la quantification des ressources fourragères. *Revue d'Elevage et de Médecine Vétérinaire des Pays tropicaux* 47(1), 117–125.
- HOPKINS, T., ROININEN, H. & SÄÄKSJÄRVI, I. E. (2019). Extensive sampling reveals the phenology and habitat use of Afrotropical parasitoid wasps (Hymenoptera: Ichneumonidae: Rhyssinae). *Royal Society Open Science* **6**(8), 190913.
- HU, G., STEFANESCU, C., OLIVER, T. H., ROY, D. B., BRERETON, T., VAN SWAAY, C., REYNOLDS, D. R. & CHAPMAN, J. W. (2021). Environmental drivers of annual population fluctuations in a trans-Saharan insect migrant. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the USA* **118**(26), e2102762118.
- HUANG, Z., LIU, S., BRADFORD, K. J., HUXMAN, T. E. & VENABLE, D. L. (2016). The contribution of germination functional traits to population dynamics of a desert plant community. *Ecology* 97(1), 250–261.
- HURME, E., FAHR, J., EIDOLON MONITORING NETWORK, ERIC-MOISE, B. F., HASH, C. T., O'MARA, M. T., RICHTER, H., TANSHI, I., WEBALA, P. W., WEBER, N. & WIKELSKI, M. (2022). Fruit bat migration matches green wave in seasonal landscapes. *Functional Ecology* 36(8), 2043–2055.
- HUTCHINSON, J., DALZIEL, J. M., KEAY, R. W. J. & HEPPER, N. (2014). Flora of West Tropical Africa, Second Edition (Updated Version). Crown Agents For Overseas Governments and Administrations, London http://archive.org/details/ FloraOfWestTropi00hutc.
- IMMELMAN, K. & EARDLEY, C. (2000). Gathering of grass pollen by solitary bees (Halictidae, *Lipotriches*) in South Africa. *Zoosystematics and Evolution* 76(2), 263–268.
- IPCC WORKING GROUP II (2022). Sixth assessment report, chapter 9: Africa. https:// www.ipcc.ch/report/ar6/wg2/chapter/chapter-9/. Consulted 18 December 2023.
- JANZEN, D. H. (1973). Sweep samples of tropical foliage insects: effects of seasons, vegetation types, elevation, time of day, and insularity. *Ecology* 54(3), 687–708.
- \*JEITER, J., HILGER, H. H., SMETS, E. F. & WEIGEND, M. (2017). The relationship between nectaries and floral architecture: a case study in Geraniaceae and Hypseocharitaceae. *Annals of Botany* **120**(5), 791–803.
- JERVIS, M. A., KIDD, N. A. C., FITTON, M. G., HUDDLESTON, T. & DAWAH, H. A. (1993). Flower-visiting by hymenopteran parasitoids. *Journal of Natural History* 27(1), 67–105.
- JOHNSON, S. D., MORÉ, M., AMORIM, F. W., HABER, W. A., FRANKIE, G. W., STANLEY, D. A., COCUCCI, A. A. & RAGUSO, R. A. (2017). The long and the short of it: a global analysis of hawkmoth pollination niches and interaction networks. *Functional Ecology* **31**(1), 101–115.
- JOHNSON, S. D. & RAGUSO, R. A. (2016). The long-tongued hawkmoth pollinator niche for native and invasive plants in Africa. *Annals of Botany* 117(1), 25–36.
- JOHNSON, S. D. & STEINER, K. E. (2000). Generalization versus specialization in plant pollination systems. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution* 15(4), 140–143.
- JONES, R. E. (1987). Reproductive strategies for the scasonal tropics. International Journal of Tropical Insect Science 8(4–5-6), 515–521.
- JORDANO, P., BASCOMPTE, J. & OLESEN, J. M. (2006). The ecological consequences of complex topology and nested structure in pollination webs. In *Plant-Pollinator Interactions: From Specialization to Generalization* (eds N. M. WASER and J. OLLERTON), pp. 173–199. University of Chicago Press, Chicago.

- KABORE, A., BA, N. M., DABIRE-BINSO, C. L. & SANON, A. (2017). Field persistence of *Habrobracon hebetor* (Say) (Hymenoptera: Braconidae) following augmentative releases against the millet head miner, *Heliocheilus albipunctella* (de Joannis) (Lepidoptera: Noctuidae), in the Sahel. *Biological Control* 108, 64–69.
- KAISER-BUNBURY, C. N., MOUGAL, J., WHITTINGTON, A. E., VALENTIN, T., GABRIEL, R., OLESEN, J. M. & BLÜTHGEN, N. (2017). Ecosystem restoration strengthens pollination network resilience and function. *Nature* 542(7640), 223–227.
- KARIMI, N., SAGHAFI, S., KEEFOVER-RING, K., VENTER, S. M., ANE, C. & BAUM, D. A. (2022). Evidence for hawkmoth pollination in the chiropterophilous African baobab (*Adansonia digitata*). *Biotropica* 54(1), 113–124.
- KASTINGER, C. & WEBER, A. (2001). Bee-flies (*Bombylius* spp., Bombyliidae, Diptera) and the pollination of flowers. *Flora* 196(1), 3–25.
- \*KAUR, A., BATISH, D. R., KAUR, S. & CHAUHAN, B. S. (2021). An overview of the characteristics and potential of *Calotropis procera* from botanical, ecological, and economic perspectives. *Frontiers in Plant Science* 12, 690806.
- КЕВЕDE, A. T. & СОРРОСК, D. L. (2015). Livestock-mediated dispersal of *Prosopis* juliflora imperils grasslands and the endangered Grevy's zebra in Northeastern Ethiopia. *Rangeland Ecology & Management* **68**(5), 402–407.
- KEVAN, P. G. (1999). Pollinators as bioindicators of the state of the environment: species, activity and diversity. Agriculture, Ecosystems and Environment 74, 373–393.
- \*KHAN, A. M., ALI, S. I. & FARUQI, S. A. (1970). Breeding system and population structure in the *Aerva javanica* complex. *Phyton* 14, 135–145.
- \*KIILL, L. H. P. & RANGA, N. T. (2000). Pollination biology of Merrenia aegyptia (L.) Urb. (Convolvulaceae) in a semi-arid region of Pernambuco. Naturalia (Sao Paulo) 25, 149–158.
- KIRK-SPRIGGS, A. H. & MULLER, B. S. (2017). Biogeography of diptera. In Manual of Afotropical Diptera. Volume 1. Introductory Chapters and Keys to Diptera Families (eds A. H. KIRK-SPRIGGS and B. J. SINCLAIR), pp. 203–238, Suricata 4. South African National Biodiversity Institute, Pretoria.
- KIRK-SPRIGGS, A. H. & SINCLAIR, B. J. (2017–2021). Manual of Afrotropical Diptera. Volume 1–3. Suricata 4, 5, and 8. South African National Biodiversity Institute, Pretoria.
- KIRK-SPRIGGS, A. H. & STUCKENBERG, B. R. (2010). Chapter six. Afrotropical Diptera—rich savannas, poor rainforests. In *Diptera Diversity: Status, Challenges and Tools* (eds A. H. KIRK-SPRIGGS and B. R. STUCKENBERG), pp. 155–196. Brill, Leiden.
- \*KLAK, C., HANÁČEK, P. & BRUYNS, P. V. (2017). Disentangling the Aizooideae: new generic concepts and a new subfamily in Aizoaceae. *Taxon* 66(5), 1147–1170.
- KLEIN, A. M., VAISSIÈRE, B. E., CANE, J. H., STEFFAN-DEWENTER, I., CUNNINGHAM, S. A., KREMEN, C. & TSCHARNTKE, T. (2007). Importance of pollinators in changing landscapes for world crops. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences* 274(1608), 303–313.
- \*KOUONON, L. C., JACQUEMART, A.-L., ZORO BI, A. I., BERTIN, P., BAUDOIN, J.-P. & DJE, Y. (2009). Reproductive biology of the andromonoecious *Cucumis melo* subsp. agrestis (Cucurbitaceae). Annals of Botany 104(6), 1129–1139.
- KRENN, H. W., PLANT, J. D. & SZUCSICH, N. U. (2005). Mouthparts of flower-visiting insects. Arthropod Structure and Development 34, 1–40.
- \*KRISHNA, H., KUMAR, L., HALDHAR, S. M., SINGH, D. & SAROJ, P. L. (2019). Phenological growth stages of Indian jujube (*Ziziphus mauritiana* Lamk.) according to the BBCH scale. *Annals of Applied Biology* **174**(1), 106–112.
- \*KUNZE, H. (1991). Structure and function in asclepiad pollination. Plant Systematics and Evolution 176(3–4), 227–253.
- KUPPLER, J. & KOTOWSKA, M. M. (2021). A meta-analysis of responses in floral traits and flower-visitor interactions to water deficit. *Global Change Biology* 27(13), 3095–3108.
- KUTI, J. O. & ROVELO, C. (1992). Effect of pollination techniques on fruit set and seed yield of egusi melon (*Citrullus colocynthis*). *Report Cucurbit Genetics Cooperative*. 15, 80–81.
- \*LAKSHMINARAYANA, G. & RAJU, A. S. (2018). Pollination ecology of Meremia tridentata (L.) Hallier f. (Convolvulaceae). Journal of Threatened Taxa 10(2), 11339–11347.
- LARSEN, T. B. (2005). Butterflies of West Africa. Apollo Books, Stenstrup, Denmark.
- LARSON, B. M. H., KEVAN, P. G. & INOUYE, D. W. (2001). Flies and flowers: taxonomic diversity of anthophiles and pollinators. *The Canadian Entomologist* 133(4), 439–465.
- LASSEN, K. M., OUÉDRAOGO, M., DUPONT, Y. L., KJær, E. D. & NIELSEN, L. R. (2017). Honey bees ensure the pollination of *Parkia biglobosa* in absence of bats. *Journal of Pollination Ecology* 20, 22–34.
- LASWAY, J. V., STEFFAN-DEWENTER, I., NJOVU, H. K., KINABO, N. R., EARDLEY, C., PAULY, A. & PETERS, M. K. (2022). Positive effects of low grazing intensity on East African bee assemblages mediated by increases in floral resources. *Biological Conservation* 267, 109490.
- LE HOUÉROU, H. N. (1989). The Grazing Land Ecosystems of the African Sahel. Springer, Berlin Heidelberg.

Biological Reviews (2024) 000-000 © 2024 The Author(s). Biological Reviews published by John Wiley & Sons Ltd on behalf of Cambridge Philosophical Society.

24

Natalia Medina-Serrano and others

- LINGBEEK, B. J., HIGGINS, C. L., MUIR, J. P., KATTES, D. H. & SCHWERTNER, T. W. (2017). Arthropod diversity and assemblage structure response to deforestation and desertification in the Sahel of western Senegal. *Global Ecology and Conservation* 11, 165–176.
- LUNAU, K., KONZMANN, S., WINTER, L., KAMPHAUSEN, V. & REN, Z.-X. (2017). Pollen and stamen mimicry: the alpine flora as a case study. *Arthropod-Plant Interactions* 11(3), 427–447.
- \*LUNAU, K., REN, Z. X., FAN, X. Q., TRUNSCHKE, J., PYKE, G. H. & WANG, H. (2020). Nectar mimicry: a new phenomenon. *Scientific Reports* 10(1), 7039.
- MANNING, J. & SMITH, D. (2017). Night hawk: pollination of *Pancratium tenuifolium*. Veld & Flora 103(4), 168–170.
- \*MANNING, J. C., GOLDBLATT, P., PARKER, E. & KAISER, R. (2012). First record of pollination in the Afro-Eurasian *Dipcadi* Medik. (Hyacinthaceae): pollination of D. brevifolium by the owlet moth *Syngrapha circumflexa* (Noctuidae). *South African Journal of Botany* 81, 15–18.
- MARANZ, S. (2009). Tree mortality in the African Sahel indicates an anthropogenic ecosystem displaced by climate change. *Journal of Biogeography* 36(6), 1181–1193.
- MARTÍN-GONZÁLEZ, A. M., DALSGAARD, B. & OLESEN, J. M. (2010). Centrality measures and the importance of generalist species in pollination networks. *Ecological Complexity* 7, 36–43.
- \*MARTINS, D. J. & JOHNSON, S. D. (2013). Interactions between hawkmoths and flowering plants in East Africa: polyphagy and evolutionary specialization in an ecological context. *Biological Journal of the Linnean Society* **110**(1), 199–213.
- MATSUKI, Y., TATENO, R., SHIBATA, M. & ISAGI, Y. (2008). Pollination efficiencies of flower-visiting insects as determined by direct genetic analysis of pollen origin. *American Journal of Botary* 95(8), 925–930.
- \*MCLAUGHLIN, J. & GAROFALO, J. (2002). The desert rose (Adenium obesum). In Miami-Dade Cooperative Extension Fact Sheet 66. Florida, Homestead.
- \*MENGE, E. O., GREENFIELD, M. L., MCCONCHIE, C. A., BELLAIRS, S. M. & LAWES, M. J. (2017). Density-dependent reproduction and pollen limitation in an invasive milkweed, *Calotropis procera* (Ait.) R. Br. (Apocynaceae). *Austral Ecology* 42(1), 61–71.
- MENZ, M. H., BROWN, G. R., DIXON, K. W. & PHILLIPS, R. D. (2015). Absence of nectar resource partitioning in a community of parasitoid wasps. *Journal of Insect Conservation* 19, 703–711.
- MENZ, M. H. M., PHILLIPS, R. D., WINFREE, R., KREMEN, C., AIZEN, M. A., JOHNSON, S. D. & DIXON, K. W. (2011). Reconnecting plants and pollinators: challenges in the restoration of pollination mutualisms. *Trends in Plant Science* 16(1), 4–12.
- MEVE, U., MASINDE, P. S., SENTNER, U. & LIEDE, S. (2001). RAPD analysis and taxonomic reconsideration of the *Ceropegia aristolochioides* complex (Apocynaceae-Ceropegicae). *Plant Biology* 3(6), 622–628.
- MICHENER, C. D. (1979). Biogeography of the bees. Annals of the Missouri Botanical Garden 66, 277-347.
- MIEHE, S., KLUGE, J., VON WEHRDEN, H. & RETZER, V. (2010). Long-term degradation of Sahelian rangeland detected by 27 years of field study in Senegal. *Journal of Applied Ecology* 47(3), 692–700.
- MITCHELL, A., MOESENEDER, C. H. & HUTCHINSON, P. M. (2020). Hiding in plain sight: DNA barcoding suggests cryptic species in all 'well-known' Australian flower beetles (Scarabaeidae: Cetoniinae). *PeerJ* 8, e9348.
- \*MOCHANLA, D. S. & ALURI, J. S. R. (2021). The reproductive ecology of Boerhavia diffusa L. and Boerhavia erecta L. (Nyctaginaceae). Jordan Journal of Natural History 8(2), 93–109.
- MORALES, C. L. & TRAVESET, A. (2009). A meta-analysis of impacts of alien vs. native plants on pollinator visitation and reproductive success of co-flowering native plants. *Ecology Letters* 12(7), 716–728.
- MOREIRA, M. M. & FREITAS, L. (2020). Review of the pollination system by small diverse insects. *Neotropical Entomology* 49(4), 472–481.
- MPONDO, F. T., NDAKIDEMI, P. A., MUKAMA, S. C. & TREYDTE, A. C. (2023). Insect visitation and pollination networks across traditional rangeland management categories in a Northern Tanzanian rangeland. *Global Ecology and Conservation* 46, e02581.
- MUDGE, A. D., OROZCO, J., PHILIPS, T. K. & ANTOINE, P. (2012). The cetoniine fauna of the Upper Guinean forests and savannas of Ghana (Coleoptera: Scarabacidae: Cetoniinac). *Terrestrial Arthropod Reviews* 5(2), 113–174.
- MUINDE, J. & KATUMO, D. M. (2024). Beyond bees and butterflies: the role of beetles in pollination system. *Journal for Nature Conservation* 77, 126523.
- \*MÜLLER, K. & BORSCH, T. (2005). Phylogenetics of Amaranthaceae based on matK/trnK sequence data: evidence from parsimony, likelihood, and Bayesian analyses. Annals of the Missouri Botanical Garden 92(1), 66–102.
- MUNN, Z., PETERS, M. D., STERN, C., TUFANARU, C., MCARTHUR, A. & AROMATARIS, E. (2018). Systematic review or scoping review? Guidance for authors when choosing between a systematic or scoping review approach. *BMC Medical Research Methodology* 18, 1–7.
- MURPHY, B. P., ANDERSEN, A. N. & PARR, C. L. (2016). The underestimated biodiversity of tropical grassy biomes. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences* 371(1703), 20150319.

- \*NDOYE, M., DIALLO, I. & GASSAMA/DIA, Y. K. (2004). Reproductive biology in Balanites aegyptiaca (L.) Del., a semi-arid forest tree. African Journal of Biotechnology 3(1), 40–46.
- NEWTON, J. P., BATEMAN, P. W., HEYDENRYCH, M. J., KESTEL, J. H., DIXON, K. W., PRENDERGAST, K. S., WHITE, N. E. & NEVILL, P. (2023). Monitoring the birds and the bees: environmental DNA metabarcoding of flowers detects plant–animal interactions. *Environmental DNA* 5(3), 488–502.
- NIANG, I., RUPPEL, O. C., ABDRABO, M. A., ESSEL, C., LENNARD, C., PADGHAM, J., URQUHART, P. & DESCHEEMAEKER, K. K. E. (2014a). Chapter 22: Africa. In *Climate Change 2014: Impacts, Adaptation, and Vulnerability. Part B: Regional Aspects. Contribution of Working Group II to the Fifth Assessment* (eds V. R. BARROS, C. B. FIELD, D. J. DOKKEN, M. D. MASTRANDREA and K. J. MACH), pp. 1199–1265. Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge.
- \*NIANG, K., SAGNA, M., NDIAYE, O., THIAW, A., DIALLO, A., AKPO, L., SALEH, M., DIOME, N., DIATTA, S., FAYE, M., GUEYE, M., GUISSÉ, A. & GOFFNER, D. (2014b). Revisiting tree species availability and usage in the Ferlo region of Senegal: a rationale for indigenous tree planting strategies in the context of the Great Green Wall for the Sahara and the Sahel Initiative. *Journal of Experimental Biology and Agriculture* 2, 529–537.
- OLESEN, J. M., BASCOMPTE, J., DUPONT, Y. L. & JORDANO, P. (2007). The modularity of pollination networks. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of* the USA **104**(50), 19891–19896.
- OLLERTON, J. (2017). Pollinator diversity: distribution, ecological function, and conservation. Annual Review of Ecology, Evolution, and Systematics 48, 353–376.
- OLLERTON, J. (2021). Pollinators and Pollination: Nature and Society. Pelagic Publishing, London.
- OLLERTON, J., ALARCÓN, R., WASER, N. M., PRICE, M. V., WATTS, S., CRANMER, L., HINGSTON, A., PETER, C. I. & ROTENBERRY, J. (2009). A global test of the pollination syndrome hypothesis. *Annals of Botany* 103, 1471–1480.
- \*OLLERTON, J. & CRANMER, L. (2002). Latitudinal trends in plant-pollinator interactions: are tropical plants more specialised? *Oikos* 98(2), 340–350.
- OLLERTON, J., DÖTTERL, S., GHORPADÉ, K., HEIDUK, A., LIEDE-SCHUMANN, S., MASINDE, S., MEVE, U., PETER, C. I., PRIETO-BENÍTEZ, S., PUNEKAR, S., THULIN, M. & WHITTINGTON, A. (2017). Diversity of Diptera families that pollinate *Ceropegia* (Apocynaceae) trap flowers: an update in light of new data and phylogenetic analyses. *Flora* 234, 233–244.
- OLLERTON, J., JOHNSON, S. D., CRANMER, L. & KELLIE, S. A. M. (2003). The pollination ecology of an assemblage of grassland asclepiads in South Africa. *Annals* of Botany **92**(6), 807–834.
- OLLERTON, J., LIEDE-SCHUMANN, S., ENDRESS, M. E., MEVE, U., RECH, A. R., SHUTTLEWORTH, A., KELLER, H. A., FISHBEIN, M., ALVARADO-CÁRDENAS, L. O., AMORIM, F. W., BERNHARDT, P., CELEP, F., CHIRANGO, Y., CHIRIBOGA-ARROYO, F., CIVEYREL, L., ET AL. (2019). The diversity and evolution of pollination systems in large plant clades: Apocynaceae as a case study. Annals of Botany 123(2), 311–325.
- OLLERTON, J., WASER, N. M., RODRIGO RECH, A. & PRICE, M. V. (2015). Using the literature to test pollination syndromes — some methodological cautions. *Journal of Pollination Ecology* 16, 119–125.
- ORONJE, M. L., HAGEN, M., GIKUNGU, M., KASINA, M. & KRAEMER, M. (2012a). Pollinator diversity, behaviour and limitation on yield of karela (Momordica charantia L. Cucurbitaceae) in western Kenya. African Journal of Agricultural Research 7(11), 1629–1638.
- \*ORONJE, M. L., KRAEMER, M., HAGEN, M., GIKUNGU, M. & KASINA, M. (2012b). Pollination needs and seed production of spider plant (*Cleome gynandra* L.: Cleomaceae) in Kenya. In *Heritage Management for Sustainable Development: Proceedings* of the 3rd National Museums of Kenya Biennial Scientific Conference, Louise Leakey Auditorium, Nairobi, National Museums of Kenya, pp. 14–25. 7–9 November 2011.
- OSS (2019). Sahel and West Africa Atlas of Land Cover Maps Strengthening resilience through Services Related to Innovation, Communication and Knowledge - BRICKS (Benin, Burkina Faso, Chad, Ethiopia, Ghana, Mali, Mauritania, Niger, Nigeria, Senegal, Sudan and Togo). http://www.oss-online. org/sites/default/files/2023-03/OSS-BRICKS-Atlas\_En.pdf.
- PATINY, S., MICHEZ, D. & DANFORTH, B. N. (2007). Phylogenetic relationships and host-plant evolution within the basal clade of Halictidae (Hymenoptera, Apoidea). *Cladistics* 24(3), 255–269.
- PAULY, A. (1984). Mission entomologique en Afrique occidentale (1979–1980); renseignements eco-biologiques concernant les Hyménoptères. *Notes Fauniques de Gemblaux* 11, 1–43.
- PESENKO, Y. A. & PAULY, A. (2005). Monograph of the bees of the subfamily Nomioidinae (Hymenoptera: Halictidae) of Africa (excluding Madagascar). Annales de la Société Entomologique de France 41(2), 129–236. https://doi.org/10.1080/ 00379271.2005.10697443.
- PINKERT, S., BARVE, V., GURALNICK, R. & JETZ, W. (2022). Global geographical and latitudinal variation in butterfly species richness captured through a

Biological Reviews (2024) 000-000 © 2024 The Author(s). Biological Reviews published by John Wiley & Sons Ltd on behalf of Cambridge Philosophical Society.

comprehensive country-level occurrence database. Global Ecology and Biogeography 31(5), 830-839.

- POLASZEK, A. & VILHEMSEN, L. (2023). Biodiversity of hymenopteran parasitoids. Current Opinion in Insect Science 56, 101026.
- POUPON, H. & BILLE, J. C. (1974). Recherches écologiques sur une savane sahélienne du Ferlo septentrional, Sénégal: influence de la sécheresse de l'année 1972–1973 sur la strate ligneuse. *Revue d'Ecologie, Terre et Vie* 28(1), 49–75.
- POWELL, K. E., OLIVER, T. H., GONZÁLEZ-SUÁREZ, M., BOTHAM, M. S., HARROWER, C. A., COMONT, R. F., MIDDLEBROOK, I. & ROY, D. B. (2024). Asynchrony in terrestrial insect abundance corresponds with species traits. *Ecology* and *Evolution* 14(2), e10910.
- POWO (2024). Plants of the World Online. Facilitated by the Royal Botanic Gardens, Kew. http://www.plantsoftheworldonline.org/. Retrieved 26 May 2024.
- PRAZ, C. (2008). Floral specialization in solitary bees. A case study of the Osmiine Bees. Ph.D. Thesis: ETH Zürich, Switzerland.
- PRITCHARD, D. J. & VALLEJO-MARÍN, M. (2020). Buzz pollination. Current Biology 30(15), R858–R860.
- RAHIMI, J., FILLOL, E., MUTUA, J. Y., CINARDI, G., ROBINSON, T. P., NOTENBAERT, A. M., ERICKSEN, P. J., GRAHAM, M. W. & BUTTERBACH-BAHL, K. (2022). A shift from cattle to camel and goat farming can sustain milk production with lower inputs and emissions in north sub-Saharan Africa's drvlands. *Nature Food* 3(7), 523–531.
- \*RAJU, A. J. & RANI, D. S. (2016a). Pollination ecology of Sida acuta, S. cordata and S. cordifolia (Malvaceae). Phytologia Balcanica 22(3), 363–376.
- \*RAJU, A. J. & RANI, D. S. (2016b). Reproductive ecology of Cleome gynandra and Cleome viscosa (Capparaceae). Phytologia Balcanica 22(1), 15–28.
- \*RAJU, A. J. S. & KRISHNA, J. R. (2017). Contribution to the knowledge of three Indian Spermacoce L. (Rubiaceae) and some preliminary information about their pollination ecology. Anales de Biologia 39, 111–126.
- \*RAJU, A. S., RAO, S. P. & KUMARI, P. K. (2003). The role of *Apis florea* in the pollination of some plant species in Andhra Pradesh, India. *Korean Journal of Apiculture* 18(1), 37–42.
- \*RAMAKRISHNA, T. M., JAYASHANKAR, M. & RAMAKRISHNA, S. (2016). Pollination strategy of pollinators in Asclepiadoideae of Apocynaceae. *Ecology, Environment and Conservation* 22(4), 1875–1884.
- RASMUSSEN, K., BRANDT, M., TONG, X., HIERNAUX, P., DIOUF, A. A., ASSOUMA, M. H., TUCKER, C. J. & FENSHOLT, R. (2018). Does grazing cause land degradation? Evidence from the sandy Ferlo in northern Senegal. *Land* Degradation and Development 29, 4337–4347.
- \*REDDY, C. S., ALURI, R. J. & VEERABHADRAIAH, G. (1998). Floral ecology and beetle pollination in the monoecious *Chrozophora rottleri* (Euphorbiaceae). *Journal of Palynology* 34, 151–156.
- RENNER, S. S. (2006). Rewardless flowers in the angiosperms and the role of insect cognition in their evolution. In *Plant-Pollinator Interactions: From Specialization to Generalization* (eds N. M. WASER and J. OLLERTON), pp. 123–144. University of Chicago Press, Chicago.
- RENNER, S. S. (2014). The relative and absolute frequencies of angiosperm sexual systems: dioecy, monoecy, gynodioecy, and an updated online database. *American Journal of Botany* **101**(10), 1588–1596.
- \*RENNER, S. S. & FEIL, J. P. (1993). Pollinators of tropical dioecious angiosperms. American Journal of Botany 80(9), 1100–1107.
- RENNER, S. S. & SCHAEFER, H. (2010). The evolution and loss of oil-offering flowers: new insights from dated phylogenies for angiosperms and bees. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences* 365(1539), 423–435.
- \*RENNER, S. S., SOUSA, A. & CHOMICKI, G. (2017). Chromosome numbers, Sudanese wild forms, and classification of the watermelon genus *Citrullus*, with 50 names allocated to seven biological species. *Taxon* 66(6), 1393–1405.
- REVES, E., SAUQUET, H. & NADOT, S. (2016). Perianth symmetry changed at least 199 times in angiosperm evolution. *Taxon* 65(5), 945–964.
- RICHARDSON, A. D., KEENAN, T. F., MIGLIAVACCA, M., RYU, Y., SONNENTAG, O. & TOOMEY, M. (2013). Climate change, phenology, and phenological control of vegetation feedbacks to the climate system. *Agricultural and Forest Meteorology* 169, 156–173.
- RODGER, J. G., BALKWILL, K. & GEMMILL, B. (2004). African pollination studies: where are the gaps? International Journal of Tropical Insect Science 24(1), 5–28.
- RODGER, J. G., BENNETT, J. M., RAZANAJATOVO, M., KNIGHT, T. M., VAN KLEUNEN, M., ASHMAN, T.-L., STEETS, J. A., HUI, C., ARCEO-GÓMEZ, G., BURD, M., BURKLE, L. A., BURNS, J. H., DURKA, W., FREITAS, L., KEMP, J. E., *ET AL.* (2021). Widespread vulnerability of flowering plant seed production to pollinator declines. *Science Advances* 7, eabd3524.
- ROMERO, G. Q. & VASCONCELLOS-NETO, J. (2004). Beneficial effects of flowerdwelling predators on their host plant. *Ecology* 85(2), 446–457.
- ROSAS-GUERRERO, V., AGUILAR, R., MARTÉN-RODRÍGUEZ, S., ASHWORTH, L., LOPEZARAIZA-MIKEL, M., BASTIDA, J. M. & QUESADA, M. (2014). A quantitative review of pollination syndromes: do floral traits predict effective pollinators? *Ecology Letters* 17(3), 388–400.

- ROSTÁS, M., BOLLMANN, F., SAVILLE, D. & RIEDEL, M. (2018). Ants contribute to pollination but not to reproduction in a rare calcareous grassland forb. *Peefj* 6, e4369.
- ROUGON, D., & ROUGON, C. (1991) Dung beetles of the Sahel region. In *Dung Beetle Ecology* (eds. I. HANSKI & Y. CAMBEFORT), pp. 230–241. Princeton University Press, Princeton. [Reprinted 2014].
- ROWLEY, G. D. (1980). The pollination mechanism of Adenium (Apocynaceae). The National Cactus and Succulent Journal 35(1), 2–5.
- \*RUIZ-GUAJARDO, J. C. (2008). Community plant-Pollinator interactions in a Kenyan Savannah. Doctoral Dissertation: University of Edinburgh.
- RYAN, C. M., WILLIAMS, M., GRACE, J., WOOLLEN, E. & LEHMANN, C. E. (2017). Pre-rain green-up is ubiquitous across southern tropical Africa: implications for temporal niche separation and model representation. *New Phytologist* 213(2), 625–633.
- SAMUEL, J. N. & RASTOGI, N. (2022). Ants as pollination vectors of ant-adapted Euphorbia hirta L. plants. Arthropod-Plant Interactions 16(5), 361–372.
- SANTOS, P. K. F., ARIAS, M. C. & KAPHEIM, K. M. (2019). Loss of developmental diapause as prerequisite for social evolution in bees. *Biology Letters* 15(8), 20190398.
- SATTERFIELD, D. A., SILLETT, T. S., CHAPMAN, J. W., ALTIZER, S. & MARRA, P. P. (2020). Seasonal insect migrations: massive, influential, and overlooked. *Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment* 18(6), 335–344.
- SAUNDERS, M. E. (2013). Insect pollinators collect pollen from wind-pollinated plants: implications for pollination ecology and sustainable agriculture. *Insect Conservation and Diversity* 11(1), 13–31.
- SAWE, T., ELDEGARD, K., TOTLAND, Ø., MACRICE, S. & NIELSEN, A. (2020). Enhancing pollination is more effective than increased conventional agriculture inputs for improving watermelon yields. *Ecology and Evolution* 10(12), 5343–5353.
- SCAVEN, V. L. & RAFFERTY, N. E. (2013). Physiological effects of climate warming on flowering plants and insect pollinators and potential consequences for their interactions. *Current Zoology* 59(3), 418–426.
- \*SCHAEFER, H. & RENNER, S. S. (2010). A three-genome phylogeny of Momordica (Cucurbitaceae) suggests seven returns from dioecy to monoecy and recent longdistance dispersal to Asia. Molecular Phylogenetics and Evolution 54(2), 553–560.
- SCHENK, H. J. & JACKSON, R. B. (2002). Rooting depths, lateral root spreads and below-ground/above-ground allometries of plants in water-limited ecosystems. *Journal of Ecology* **90**(3), 480–494.
- SCHENK, H. J. & JACKSON, R. B. (2005). Mapping the global distribution of deep roots in relation to climate and soil characteristics. *Geoderma* 126(1-2), 129–140.
- SEGHIERI, J., CARREAU, J., BOULAIN, N., DE ROSNAY, P., ARJOUNIN, M. & TIMOUK, F. (2012a). Is water availability really the main environmental factor controlling the phenology of woody vegetation in the central Sahel? *Plant Ecology* 213, 861–870.
- \*SEGHIERI, J., DO, F. C., DEVINEAU, J.-L. & FOURNIER, A. (2012b). Phenology of woody species along the climatic gradient in west tropical Africa. In *Phenology and Climate Change* (ed. X. ZHANG), pp. 143–178. Rijeka, Croatia, InTech.
- SEGRE, H., KLEIJN, D., BARTOMEUS, I., WALLISDEVRIES, M. F., DE JONG, M., VAN DER SCHEE, M. F., ROMÁN, J. & FIJEN, T. P. (2023). Butterflies are not a robust bioindicator for assessing pollinator communities, but floral resources offer a promising way forward. *Ecological Indicators* 154, 110842.
- SEXTON, A. N. & EMERY, S. M. (2020). Grassland restorations improve pollinator communities: a meta-analysis. *Journal of Insect Conservation* 24, 719–726.
- SHARMA, I., SHARMA, N. & KOUR, H. (2009). Studies on the role of ants in reproductive efficiency of three species of *Phyllanthus L. Current Science* 96(2), 283–287.
- \*SHIVANNA, K. R. (2014). Reproductive assurance through autogamy in some annual weed species. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, India Section B: Biological Sciences 84(3), 681–687.
- SINGH, K. P. & KUSHWAHA, C. P. (2006). Diversity of flowering and fruiting phenology of trees in a tropical deciduous forest in India. *Annals of Botany* 97(2), 265–276.
- SIOPA, C., CARVALHEIRO, L., CASTRO, H., LOUREIRO, J. & CASTRO, S. (2023a). Quantifying crop pollinator dependence values-an updated compilation and discussion on methodological approaches. *Authorea Preprints*.
- SIOPA, C., CASTRO, H., LOUREIRO, J. & CASTRO, S. (2023b). PolLimCrop, a global dataset of pollen limitation in crops. *Scientific Data* 10(1), 905.
- SMITH, M. A., RODRIGUEZ, J. J., WHITFIELD, J. B., DEANS, A. R., JANZEN, D. H., HALLWACHS, W. & HEBERT, P. D. (2008). Extreme diversity of tropical parasitoid wasps exposed by iterative integration of natural history, DNA barcoding, morphology, and collections. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* of the USA 105(34), 12359–12364.
- \*SOROMESSA, T. (2007). Inflorescence modification and floral biology of some Commiphora species. SLNET: Ethiopian Journal of Science 30(1), 25–36.
- \*SOUZA, C. G., RAMOS, S. M. B., NIETSCHE, S., POSSOBOM, C. C. F., ALMEIDA, E. F. A. & PEREIRA, M. C. T. (2022). Viability of pollen grains and stigma receptivity in Desert Rose. *Ornamental Horticulture* 28, 92–98.
- Staude, H., Maclean, M., Mecenero, S., Pretorius, R., Oberprieler, R., van Noort, S., Sharp, A., Sharp, I., Balona, J., Bradley, S., Brink, M.,

MORTON, A., BOTHA, M., COLLINS, S., GROBLER, Q., *ET AL.* (2020). An overview of Lepidoptera-host-parasitoid associations for southern Africa, including an illustrated report on 2 370 African Lepidoptera-host and 119 parasitoid-Lepidoptera associations. *Metamorphosis* **31**(3), 1–394.

- STEIN, K., COULIBALY, D., BALIMA, L. H., GOETZE, D., LINSENMAIR, K. E., POREMBSKI, S., STENCHLY, K. & THEODOROU, P. (2020). Plant-pollinator networks in savannas of Burkina Faso, West Africa. *Diversity* 13(1), 1.
- STIREMAN, J. O., DYER, L. A., JANZEN, D. H., SINGER, M. S., LILL, J. T., MARQUIS, R. J., RICKLEFS, R. E., GENTRY, G. L., HALLWACHS, W., COLEY, P. D., BARONE, J. A., GREENEY, H. F., CONNAHS, H., BARBOSA, P., MORAIS, H. C. & DINIZ, I. R. (2005). Climatic unpredictability and parasitism of caterpillars: implications of global warming. *Proceedings of the National Academy* of Sciences 102(48), 17384–17387.
- STOCK, W. D. (2017). Plants anticipating rain-a challenge for modelling climate change impacts. *Nav Phytologist* **213**(2), 475–477.
- STONE, G., WILLMER, P. & NEE, S. (1996). Daily partitioning of pollinators in an African Acacia community. Proceedings of the Royal Society of London. Series B: Biological Sciences 263(1375), 1389–1393.
- STONE, G. N., RAINE, N. E., PRESCOTT, M. & WILLMER, P. G. (2003). Pollination ecology of acacias (Fabaceae, Mimosoideae). Australian Systematic Botany 16(1), 103–118.
- STONE, G. N., WILLMER, P. & ROWE, J. A. (1998). Partitioning of pollinators during flowering in an African Acacia community. *Ecology* 79(8), 2808–2827.
- STOUFFER, D. B., CIRTWILL, A. R. & BASCOMPTE, J. (2014). How exotic plants integrate into pollination networks. *Journal of Ecology* **102**(6), 1442–1450.
- \*STRANGE, A., RUDALL, P. J. & PRYCHID, C. J. (2004). Comparative floral anatomy of Pontederiaceae. Botanical Journal of the Linnean Society 144(4), 395–408.
- SULTAN, B., LALOU, R., SANNI, A. M., OUMAROU, A. & SOUMARÉ, M. A. (cds) (2020). Rural Societies in the Face of Climatic and Environmental Changes in West Africa. IRD éditions, Paris.
- SYMES, C. T. & DOWNS, C. (2001). Feeding and energy intake in two avian frugivores, the Black-eyed Bulbul *Pycnonotus barbartus* (Passeriformes: Pycnonotidae) and Speckled Mousebird *Colius striatus* (Passeriformes: Coliidae). *Durban Museum Novitates* 26(1), 20–24.
- TADEY, M. (2020). Reshaping phenology: grazing has stronger effects than climate on flowering and fruiting phenology in desert plants. *Perspectives in Plant Ecology, Evolution* and Systematics 42, 125501.
- TALAVERA, G., GARCÍA-BERRO, A., TALLA, V. N., NG'IRU, I., BAHLEMAN, F., KÉBÉ, K., NZALA, K. M., PLASENCIA, D., MARAFI, M. A., KASSIE, A. & GOUDÉGNON, E. O. (2023). The Afrotropical breeding grounds of the Palearctic-African migratory Painted Lady butterflies (Vanessa cardui). Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the USA 120(16), e2218280120.
- TAYLOR, P. J., VISE, C., KRISHNAMOORTHY, M. A., KINGSTON, T. & VENTER, S. (2020). Citizen science confirms the rarity of fruit bat pollination of baobab (*Adansonia digitata*) flowers in southern Africa. *Diversity* 12(3), 106. https://doi.org/ 10.3390/d12030106.
- \*TEL-ZUR, N. & SCHNEIDER, B. (2009). Floral biology of Ziziphus mauritiana (Rhamnaceae). Sexual Plant Reproduction 2(2), 73–85.
- THÉBAULT, E. & FONTAINE, C. (2010). Stability of ecological communities and the architecture of mutualistic and trophic networks. *Science* 329(5993), 853–856.
- THRASH, I. & DERRY, J. F. (1999). The nature and modelling of piospheres: a review. Koedoe 42(2), 73–94.
- TOUROULT, J. & LE GALL, P. (2013). Fruit feeding Cetoniinae community structure in an anthropogenic landscape in West Africa. *Journal of Insect Conservation* 17, 23–34.
- TRICCO, A. C., LILLIE, E., ZARIN, W., O'BRIEN, K., COLQUHOUN, H., KASTNER, M., LEVAC, D., NG, C., SHARPE, J. P., WILSON, K. & KENNY, M. (2016). A scoping review on the conduct and reporting of scoping reviews. *BMC Medical Research Methodology* 16, 1–10.
- \*TUCKER, S. C. (1996). Trends in evolution of floral ontogeny in Cassia sensu stricto, Sema, and Chamaeerista (Leguminosae: Caesalpinioideae: Cassieae: Cassiinae); a study in convergence. American Journal of Botany 83(6), 687–711.
- TURNER, M. D., DAVIS, D. K., YEH, E. T., HIERNAUX, P., LOIZEAUX, E. R., FORNOF, E. M., RICE, A. M. & SUITER, A. K. (2023). Great green walls: hype, myth, and science. *Annual Review of Environment and Resources* 48, 263–287.
- \*TYBIRK, K. (1989). Flowering, pollination and seed production of Acacia nilotica. Nordic Journal of Botany 9(4), 375–381.
- TYBIRK, K. (1993). Pollination, breeding system and seed abortion in some African acacias. Bolanical Journal of the Linnean Society 112(2), 107–137.
- VALLEJO-MARÍN, M., DA SILVA, E. M., SARGENT, R. D. & BARRETT, S. C. H. (2010). Trait correlates and functional significance of heteranthery in flowering plants. *New Phytologist* 188, 418–425.
- VAN KLINK, R., VAN DER PLAS, F., VAN NOORDWIJK, C. G. E., WALLISDEVRIES, M. F. & OLFF, H. (2015). Effects of large herbivores on grassland arthropod diversity. *Biological Reviews* **90**(2), 347–366.

- VAN SCHAIK, C. P., TERBORGH, J. W. & WRIGHT, S. J. (1993). The phenology of tropical forests: adaptive significance and consequences for primary producers. *Annual Review of Ecology and Systematics* 24, 353–377.
- VAN ZANDT, P. A., JOHNSON, D. D., HARTLEY, C., LECROY, K. A., SHEW, H. W., DAVIS, B. T. & LEHNERT, M. S. (2020). Which moths might be pollinators? Approaches in the search for the flower-visiting needles in the Lepidopteran haystack. *Ecological Entomology* 45(1), 13–25.
- VENTER, S. M. & WITKOWSKI, E. T. (2019). Phenology, flowering and fruit-set patterns of baobabs, Adansonia digitata, in southern Africa. Forest Ecology and Management 453, 117593.
- \*VIKAS & TANDON, R. (2011). Reproductive biology of Azadirachta indica (Meliaceac), a medicinal tree species from arid zones. *Plant Species Biology* 26(1), 116–123.
- VINCKE, C., DIÉDHIOU, I. & GROUZIS, M. (2010). Long term dynamics and structure of woody vegetation in the Ferlo (Senegal). *Journal of Arid Environments* 74, 268–276.
- VIZENTIN-BUGONI, J., MARUYAMA, P. K., DE SOUZA, C. S., OLLERTON, J., RODRIGO RECH, A. & SAZIMA, M. (2018). Plant-pollinator networks in the tropics: a review. In *Ecological Networks in the Tropics: An Integrative Overview of Species Interactions from Some of the Most Species-Rich Habitats on Earth* (eds W. DÁTTILO and V. RICO-GRAY), pp. 73–91. Springer, Cham.
- \*VOGEL, S. (2000). The floral nectaries of Malvaceae sensu lato-a conspectus. *Kurtziana* 28(2), 155–171.
- \*VOIGT, F. A. (2005). Influence of pollination and seed dispersal on the genetic population structure of two commiphora species in Madagascar and South Africa. Ph.D. Dissertation: Johannes Gutenberg-Universität Mainz.
- WAGNER, R., BARTÁK, M., BORKENT, A., COURTNEY, G., GODDEERIS, B., HAENNI, J. P., KNUTSON, L., PONT, A., ROTHERAY, G. E., ROZKOŠNÝ, R. & SINCLAIR, B. (2008). Global diversity of dipteran families (Insecta Diptera) in freshwater (excluding Simulidae, Culicidae, Chironomidae, Tipulidae and Tabanidae). *Hydrobiologia* 595, 489–519.
- \*WASELKOV, K. E., BOLEDA, A. S. & OLSEN, K. M. (2018). A phylogeny of the genus Amaranthus (Amaranthaceae) based on several low-copy nuclear loci and chloroplast regions. Systematic Botany 43(2), 439–458.
- \*WEBSTER, G. L. (1970). A revision of *Phyllanthus* (Euphorbiaceae) in the continental United States. *Brittonia* 22, 44–76.
- WENTAO, M., SHIMING, T., LE, Q., WEIBO, R., FRY, E. L., JONATHAN, R., MARGERISON, R. C., YUAN, C. & XIAOMIN, L. (2023). Grazing reduces plant sexual reproduction but increases asexual reproduction: a global meta-analysis. *Science of the Total Environment* 879, 162850.
- WILLIAMS, N. M. (2011). Restoration of nontarget species: Bee communities and pollination function in riparian forests. *Restoration Ecology* 19(4), 450–459.
- WILLMOTT, A. P. & BURQUEZ, A. (1996). The pollination of Merrenia palmeri (Convolvulaceae): can hawk moths be trusted? American Journal of Botany 83(8), 1050–1056.
- WINFREE, R. (2010). The conservation and restoration of wild bees. Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences 1195(1), 169–197.
- WOLDA, H. (1988). Insect scasonality: why? Annual Review of Ecology and Systematics 19, 1–18.
- \*WOLFE, L. M. & SOWELL, D. R. (2006). Do pollination syndromes partition the pollinator community? A test using four sympatric morning glory species. *International Journal of Plant Sciences* 167(6), 1169–1175.
- WRIGHT, K. W., VANDERBILT, K. L., INOUYE, D. W., BERTELSEN, C. D. & CRIMMINS, T. M. (2015). Turnover and reliability of flower communities in extreme environments: insights from long-term phenology data sets. *Journal of Arid Environments* 115, 27–34.
- \*YADAV, P. B., MANNING, J. C., YADAV, S. R. & LEKHAK, M. M. (2019). A cytotaxonomic revision of *Drimia* Jacq. (Hyacinthaceae: Urgineoideae) in India. *South African Journal of Botany* 123, 62–86.
- \*YANG, Y. (2012). Phylogenetics and evolution of Euphorbia Subgenus Chamaesyce. Doctoral Dissertation: University of Michigan.
- ZEMENICK, A. T., KULA, R. R., RUSSO, L. & TOOKER, J. (2019). A network approach reveals parasitoid wasps to be generalized nectar foragers. *Arthropod-Plant Interactions* 13, 239–251.
- \*ZENCHYZEN, B., WEISSNER, S., MARTIN, J., LOPUSHINSKY, A., JOHN, I., NAHAL, I. & HALL, J. C. (2023). Comparative nectary morphology across Cleomaceae (Brassicales). *Plants* 12(6), 1263.
- ZHOU, Y., WIGLEY, B. J., CASE, M. F., COETSEE, C. & STAVER, A. C. (2020). Rooting depth as a key woody functional trait in savannas. *New Phytologist* 227(5), 1350–1361.
- ZWARTS, L., BIJLSMA, R. G. & VAN DER KAMP, J. (2023a). Downstream ecological consequences of livestock grazing in the Sahel: a space-for-time analysis of the relations between livestock and birds. Ardea 111(1), 269–282.
- ZWARTS, L., BIJLSMA, R. G. & VAN DER KAMP, J. (2023b). Granivorous birds in the Sahel: is seed supply limiting bird numbers? *Ardea* 111, 283–304.

#### IX. SUPPORTING INFORMATION

Additional supporting information may be found online in the Supporting Information section at the end of the article.

(Received 29 May 2024; revised 11 November 2024; accepted 15 November 2024)

**Table S1.** Forb (herbaceous dicot) species in the northern Sahel (Ferlo region, Senegal).

**Table S2.** Tree and shrub species found in the northern Sahel (Ferlo region, Senegal) inventoried by Niang *et al.* (2014b) and Dendoncker *et al.* (2020).

27

Biological Reviews (2024) 000-000 © 2024 The Author(s). Biological Reviews published by John Wiley & Sons Ltd on behalf of Cambridge Philosophical Society.